The combined effects of *p*CO₂ and nitrogen conditions on the growth and carbon acquisition of the freshwater cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa*.

Master Thesis

Yoeri V. Kraak

Utrecht University

Faculty of Geosciences

Department of Earth Sciences

December 2016

Supervised by

Dr. Ir. Dedmer van de Waal (NIOO-KNAW)

Dr. Jing Liu (NIOO-KNAW)

Prof. dr. Jack Middelburg (UU)

Table of contents

Abstract	4
Introduction	5
Carbon Acquisition	7
Carbon isotopes	9
Effects of pCO ₂	11
Research subject and hypothesis	12
Material and Methods	13
Batch experiments	13
Chemostats experiments	14
Measurements	14
Calculations	14
Results	15
Discussion	20
Response of cell quota and stoichiometry	20
Response of growth and carbon acquisition	21
Carbon isotope fractionation	23
Cellular leakage and bicarbonate usage	24
Fractionation models	26
Combined response of <i>p</i> CO ₂ and nitrogen on carbon acquisition	27
Limitations	29
Conclusions and outlook	29
Acknowledgements	30

References

Supplementary information

Abstract

Elevated CO₂ concentrations in freshwater ecosystems, driven by the anthropogenic increase of atmospheric pCO_2 , may affect the growth, stoichiometry and carbon acquisition of phytoplankton. The direction and extent of these changes may be dependent on other environmental factors, such as nutrient loads. In this study we investigated the response of three strains of the freshwater cyanobacterium, *Microcystis aeruginosa*, to a wide range of pCO₂ under replete and deplete nitrogen conditions, in order to investigate their combined effects. This species is known in particular to cause intensive harmful blooms during warm periods in eutrophic systems. These blooms can deplete CO₂ concentrations to limiting conditions and may therefore be promoted by increased CO₂ availability. We found for all strains that increased pCO₂ affects C:N ratios and that the direction and extent of the response is dependent on the imposed nitrogen conditions. Specifically, C:N ratios increased with pCO₂ under nitrogen depleted conditions, while they decreased under nitrogen replete conditions. Furthermore, we found impaired growth rates at both low pCO_2 and at high pCO_2 . This may be closely related to changes in carbon acquisition or putative photoinhibition. Changes in carbon acquisition are investigated using a single compartment model for stable carbon isotope fractionation (ε_p). *Microcystis* generally takes up bicarbonate as secondary carbon source. With ε_p calculations it is shown that cells become less reliant on bicarbonate at high pCO_2 and take up more CO_2 instead. The calculations also show that the total carbon uptake increases with increasing pCO_2 in nitrogen limited conditions. This is closely related to an increase in CO_2 leakage from cells at high pCO_2 . These changes in carbon acquisition may have consequences for the growth and the energy balance of cells. Next to being a useful tool to track changes in carbon acquisition, the relation between pCO_2 and ε_p is also of particular interest for the reconstruction of past pCO_2 . ε_p has been shown to increase with increasing pCO_2 . This response interacts with the imposed nitrogen conditions, leading to a higher sensitivity to pCO_2 during nitrogen depleted than in nitrogen replete conditions. The observed strong relationship between ε_p and pCO₂ may support the development of CO_2 proxies, though this will be complicated by the interactive effect with nitrogen conditions. This study highlights the changes that occur at a physiological level in response to elevated pCO_2 under nitrogen replete/deplete conditions. The results show that elevated pCO₂ may promote Microcystis growth when it alleviates CO_2 limitation, but that it may impede growth when it becomes saturating. Large changes in C:N stoichiometry indicate a large flexibility of cyanobacteria. If the physiological changes observed in this study provide an ecological advantage for cyanobacteria it may have implications for the phytoplankton community composition. In all, the impacts of elevated pCO_2 on cyanobacterial blooms will strongly depend on the concurrent CO_2 and nitrogen concentrations, which may strongly influence the success of cyanobacteria in future freshwater ecosystems.

Introduction

Atmospheric CO₂ concentration has increased from 270 to 400 ppm since the beginning of the industrial revolution and could, according to the high emission scenario RCP8.5, reach ~950 ppm by the year 2100 (Collins et al. 2013). The increase in atmospheric CO₂ causes global warming and other climate change effects that may have large consequences for the aquatic environment. A major impact of increased atmospheric pCO₂ is the uptake of CO₂ by the oceans, which lowers the pH and shifts the equilibrium of carbonate species to more CO_2 , more HCO_3^- , and less CO_3^{2-} , a process commonly referred to as ocean acidification (Wolf-Gladrow et al. 1999; Caldeira and Wickett, 2003; Doney et al. 2009). In contrast to the oceans, most freshwater lakes are supersaturated in pCO_2 (Cole et al. 1994). This is because the pCO_2 in lakes is mainly a result of metabolic processes, fueled by external organic material (Sobek et al. 2005). This organic material, mostly in the form of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), is internally recycled to pCO₂ and resupplied by allochthonous DOC from the terrestrial environment (Sobek et al. 2005). Climate change could affect the magnitude of the DOC flux into lakes. Depending on the local settings, an increase in the input of allochthonous DOC could occur due to climate effects as increased precipitation, longer growing seasons, increased soil temperatures and the thawing of permafrost (Hinton 1997, Adrian et al. 2009). Although there will be a strong variation in the response of lakes to a changing climate (Adrian et al. 2009), depending on the local settings, it is clear that rising atmospheric pCO₂ and increased DOC input potentially increases lake pCO_2 . As a consequence, this increase in pCO_2 may affect freshwater phytoplankton.

 pCO_2 of natural waters is strongly linked to the chemistry of the water. Freshwater systems contain a large number of weak acids and bases. These weak acids and bases play a major role in determining the pH of the water (Morel and Hering, 1993). In most natural waters the most important acid/base system is the carbonate system with total concentrations of about 1mM on average in freshwater systems (Morel and Hering, 1993). The main sources of carbonate in the water are dissolution of carbonate rock, atmospheric CO₂ and respiration (Morel and Hering, 1993). Unlike most other gases, CO_2 not only dissolves in water, but also reacts with water to form carbonic acid (H_2CO_3). Carbonic acid can dissociate in water to form free protons (H+) and the conjugate bases bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) and carbonate (CO_3^{2-}). These dissociation reactions, listed below, occur very fast and in general it is safe to assume there is a thermodynamic equilibrium between the species (Sarmiento and Gruber, 2004). pH has a major role in determining the dominant carbonate species (fig. 1). This shows a large pH dependence of the distribution of the carbonate species. The species CO_2 (aq) and H_2CO_3 are difficult to distinguish analytically (Sarmiento and Gruber, 2004). Therefore they are commonly combined and expressed as CO_2^* , a hypothetical species representing the sum of the species CO_2 (aq) and H_2CO_3 (Sarmiento and Gruber, 2004).



Figure 1. Carbonate system. The contribution of carbonate species to DIC at 25°C are shown as function of pH. Next to the figure the relevant reactions are shown.

An increase in pCO_2 may have strong implications for phytoplankton. Enhanced pCO_2 , for instance, has been suggested to increase overall algal productivity (Schippers et al. 2004). However, there seems to be a strong variation in the response to increased pCO_2 among species (Schippers *et al.* 2004). While an increased availability of CO₂ may enhance growth, the concurrent decrease in pH may have negative consequences, especially for calcifying organisms which may have reduced rates of calcification (Riebesell *et al.* 2000a). The pCO_2 sensitivity seems to vary strongly between different phytoplankton species and even between strains (Langer et al. 2006. Langer et al. 2009). This sensitivity has been shown to depend on other resource conditions, such as light (e.g. Rokitta and Rost, 2012). An opposite trend in pH may occur when there are high levels of photosynthetic activity by phytoplankton, also called phytoplankton blooms, which typically occur in marine coastal waters and inland waters when nutrients are available in excess. Some species of phytoplankton are known to cause major ecological problems at high population densities and are therefore referred to as harmful algal blooms (HAB). A potential increase in the occurrence of HABs by climate change is therefore subject of ongoing research (HARRNESS, 2005). While the combination of interacting factors leading to HAB formation is not yet fully understood, some recent increases in HAB formation seem to be linked to increasing eutrophication and temperature (HARRNESS, 2005; Paerl and Huisman, 2008; Paul, 2008, Heisler et al. 2008; O'Neil et al. 2012).

An important group of phytoplankton causing harmful blooms in eutrophic systems are the cyanobacteria. Bloom forming cyanobacteria may produce neuro- cyto- and hepatotoxins that are hazardous to animal or human health (Sivonen 1996; Sivonen and Jones 1999; Paerl *et al.*, 2001; HARRNESS, 2005). Dense blooms can even cause oxygen deprivation leading to fish kills. These blooms occur particularly in eutrophic systems during warm summers (Sivonen and Jones 1999). Many cyanobacteria can form intracellular gas vesicles that increases their buoyancy. This allows cyanobacteria to float near the surface and create dense surface blooms in stratified waters (Huisman *et al.* 2004; Visser *et al.* 2016). These surface blooms are effective in outcompeting other phytoplankton, leading to blooms that may be maintained for weeks to months. A possible explanation for the effective suppression of other phytoplankton during blooms is the shading effect surface cyanobacteria have on nonbuoyant phytoplankton (Shapiro 1973; Klemer 1989; Pearl and

Huisman 2008). A few effects of climate change have been considered to benefit the formation of harmful cyanobacteria blooms over other phytoplankton growth. Beyond the direct effect of higher temperatures that are considered to be beneficial to the maximum specific growth rate of cyanobacteria, possibly leading to increased resistance to grazing (Jöhnk et al. 2008; Lürling et al. 2013), an important indirect effect results from stratification, which is driven by temperature. Increased temperatures may strengthen stratification or lengthen the period lakes are stratified, providing longer optimal conditions for cyanobacteria blooms (Pearl and Huisman 2008; O'Neil et al 2012; Lürling et al. 2013; Visser et al. 2016). Another factor that may affect cyanobacteria blooms is the effect of CO₂. Due to the high cell densities in cyanobacteria blooms, nutrients rapidly decline and the cells may deplete inorganic carbon in the surface layer (Ibelings and Maberly, 1998). It has been suggested that cyanobacteria are very efficient in carbon fixation and have a competitive advantage over eukaryotic algae once low pCO_2 is established (Shapiro 1973; Shapiro 1997). Though, this competitive advantage hypothesis is not always supported (e.g. Verschoor et al. 2013). Furthermore, buoyant cyanobacteria may intercept CO₂ from the atmosphere and use it for their own growth before it can diffuse in to the subsurface where nonbuoyant phytoplankton live (Pearl and Huisman 2009). However, light interception at the surface may be the most important factor in suppressing growth of eukaryotic algae once a surface bloom is established (Shapiro 1973; Klemer 1989).

Depletion of inorganic carbon at the surface layer occurs when the demand for CO₂ in a bloom exceeds the supply of CO₂ from the atmosphere. Consequently, the rate of inorganic carbon supply effectively controls the rates of net photosynthesis of the bloom (Ibelings and Maberly, 1998). Even the diffusive influx resulting from air that is a tenfold of present day *p*CO₂ generally cannot satisfy the demand for DIC of an intensive bloom (Ibelings and Maberly, 1998). Freshwater environments are generally poorly buffered and experience large shifts in pH, especially during bloom formation. This is accompanied by a shift in the ratio of carbon species. The restricted diffusion of atmospheric CO₂, variability of DIC and varying proportions of the carbon species impose a challenge for the carbon acquisition of bloom forming cyanobacteria (Badger *et al.* 2006). Which impacts increased *p*CO₂ has on cell physiology and growth rates of different cyanobacteria genera, and how this may alter the phytoplankton community is subject of many recent studies. Understanding how mechanisms for carbon acquisition respond to environmental conditions is a perquisite for understanding the effects of climate change on bloom forming cyanobacteria.

Carbon Acquisition

Carbon fixation by phytoplankton takes place by the enzymatic CO₂ fixation, catalyzed by Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCO). RuBisCO catalyzes both the CO₂ fixating reaction, carboxylation, as well as the oxygenation, a wasteful side-reaction (e.g. Heldt and Piechulla, 2011). A parameter describing the ability of RuBisCO to discriminate between CO₂ and O2 is the specificity factor (Badger *et al.* 1998; Tortell 2000; Bowsher *et al.*, 2008). It is defined as V_{CO2}.K_{CO2}/V_{O2}.K_{CO2}, in which V is the maximum reaction rate and K is the half saturation constant, also called the substrate affinity. Larger values, as observed in cyanobacteria, indicate a greater selectivity for CO₂ and therefore a higher capacity for carboxylation relative to oxygenase. The use of RuBisCO as catalyst for biomass production by cyanobacteria probably dates back to 2.4-3.5 billion years ago (Whitney *et al.* 2011, Rae *et al.* 2013). It has been suggested that the rise of oxygen in the early atmosphere led to considerable evolutionary pressure to increase the carboxylation efficiency of the enzyme (Jorden and Ogren, 1981; Tortell, 2000). Despite high values of RuBisCO specificity found in some phytoplankton taxa, direct use of concentrations of CO₂ and O₂ resembling the present-day atmospheric concentrations does not result in efficient photosynthesis. Although RuBisCO is an inefficient enzyme for CO₂ fixation with the present day atmosphere, it is still the most abundant protein in the world (Ellis, 1979, Rae *et al.* 2013, Carmo-Silva *et al.* 2015). To compensate for the low RuBisCO efficiency, cyanobacteria have developed CO₂ concentrating mechanisms (CCMs) which can elevate the CO₂ conditions around RuBisCO by up to a thousand-fold (Badger, 2003). These mechanisms allow RuBisCO to fix CO₂ efficiently, even at low environmental *p*CO₂ and high O₂ by promoting the carboxylase reaction and suppressing the oxygenase reaction (Rae *et al.* 2013). In fact, most phytoplankton species possess a CCM, but there is a large variation between phytoplankton species in the effectiveness of their CCM (Rost *et al.* 2003, Pessarakli, 2016).

The most important traits of RuBisCO for the process of carbon fixation are the carboxylation turnover rate and the affinity for inorganic carbon (Shih et al. 2016). These traits are not independent of each other: there appears to be a trade-off (Shih et al. 2016). For example, RuBisCO in cyanobacteria has, compared to other algae, a particularly low affinity for CO₂ and O₂ while it has high turnover rates (Price et al. 2008). Since the CCM effectively increases cellular affinity to CO₂ and concentrates CO₂ in the vicinity of RuBisCO, the enzyme can work near optimal efficiency. While CO₂ is the required form of carbon that can serve as substrate for RuBisCO, many phytoplankton species are capable of simultaneous uptake of CO_2 and HCO_3^- (e.g. Rost *et al.* 2003, Kranz *et al.* 2010). While CO_2 can be taken up by cells by passive diffusion, HCO_3 - requires active uptake. This can occur by direct uptake or by the use of extracellular carbonic anhydrase that enhances the conversion of HCO₃⁻ to CO₂, facilitating diffusive CO₂ uptake. An advantage of using HCO₃⁻ as carbon source is that it is often abundantly available in aquatic environments. However, an important downside for active uptake is that it requires considerable amounts of energy. Therefore often CO₂ is the preferred substrate (Rost et al. 2003). Moreover, among phytoplankton there is a great variety in the capability to use HCO_3^- (Hein, 1997). While some species predominantly take up CO_2 , other species, like the cyanobacterium Trichodesmium erythraeum, rely heavily on HCO₃⁻ uptake (Kranz et al. 2009, Kranz et al. 2010). In fact, most cyanobacteria have active uptake systems for HCO_3^- (Price et al. 2008), though they may not all rely as heavily on HCO₃⁻ as *Trichodesmium*. Cyanobacteria often take up both CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ efficiently since, in addition to active HCO₃⁻ uptake systems, cyanobacteria also have active uptake systems for CO₂.

Cyanobacteria possess in general 5 different active carbon uptake systems: Two for CO_2 uptake and three for HCO_3^- uptake (Price *et al.* 2008). These systems have different affinities and flux rates and have a different effectiveness under a variety of carbon conditions (Sandrini *et al.* 2014). However, some cyanobacteria are specialized and possess only three or four out of the five different carbon uptake systems, which allows them to outcompete generalists under specific conditions (Price *et al.* 2008, Sandrini *et al.* 2014). This specialization may also occur within a species, as is shown for different strains of *Microcystis aeruginosa* (Sandrini *et al.* 2014).

Carbon isotopes

The carbon isotopic composition of biomass can provide information concerning the processes involved in CO_2 fixation. For example, C_3 plants can be well distinguished from C_4 plants by their $\delta^{13}C$, representing their different photosynthetic pathway (Ehleringer, 1991). Changes in the carbon acquisition of phytoplankton may be reflected in their isotopic composition. For instance, Laws (1998) used carbon isotopes to conclude that *Emiliania huxleyi* primarily used HCO_3^- as carbon source at low growth rates while it mainly used CO_2 at high growth rates.

The carbon isotope composition ($\delta^{13}C_{sample}$) is noted by the delta notation, relative to the Vienna-PeeDee belemnite standard:

$$\delta^{13}C_{\text{sample}} = \frac{({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{\text{sample}}}{({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{\text{PDB}}}$$
(1)

Where $({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{sample}$ refers to the measured isotopic ratio of the sample and $({}^{13}C/{}^{12}C)_{PDB}$ is the isotopic ratio of the Vienna-PeeDee belemnite standard. Carbon isotope discrimination, or fractionation, has been shown to be strongly affected by pCO_2 . This dependence of fractionation to pCO_2 is of particular interest in the field of paleoclimatology, in which reconstruction of ancient pCO_2 is of major interest. Fundamental knowledge about how cellular processes fractionate and how this depends on other environmental conditions is required to make accurate reconstructions.

The main process causing fractionation in photosynthetic organisms is the enzymatic CO₂ fixation catalyzed by RuBisCO. This process strongly discriminates against ¹³C, which in most cases leads to a large negative δ^{13} C of biomass. The δ^{13} C of biomass is however, next to cellular processes, also determined by the δ^{13} C of the carbon source, which can vary considerably per location and in time. If the isotopic composition of the carbon source is known, isotopic fractionation is determined, which is expressed relative to the carbon source:

$$\varepsilon_{\rm p} = \frac{\delta^{13} C_{CO_2} - \delta^{13} C_{POC}}{1 + \delta^{13} C_{POC} \cdot 10^{-3}}$$
(2)

In which ε_p is the fractionation (per mile, ‰), $\delta^{13}C_{CO2}$ is the isotopic composition of the carbon source and $\delta^{13}C_{POC}$ is the isotopic composition of the biomass (Freeman and Hayes 1992). Equation 2 shows that for the calculation of fractionation, the isotopic composition of the carbon source is required. As was indicated before, phytoplankton has been shown to be able to use both CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ as carbon source. These compounds strongly differ in isotopic composition due to isotopic fractionation at thermodynamic equilibrium. In this so-called equilibrium fractionation, the heavier isotope preferentially remains in the most strongly bound compound. In the case of the carbonate system, this means HCO₃⁻ is more ¹³C enriched than CO₂ in isotopic equilibrium. Differences or shifts in the proportion of CO₂ to total carbon uptake (CO₂+HCO₃⁻) may therefore affect the isotopic composition of phytoplankton.

In any unidirectional process, such as carboxylation by RuBisCO, fractionation is only expressed if the reaction is incomplete. With a complete reaction, all of the reactant is transformed into the product. This way the isotopic composition of the product is equal to the composition of the reactant. Alternatively, if there is fast refreshment of the reactant, the product can be strongly depleted in the heavy isotope. For carboxylation by RuBisCO this means that its strong intrinsic fractionation may not

be expressed if all the carbon that enters the cell is used for carbon fixation. If instead the pool of carbon is refreshed rapidly by new carbon entering the cell and old carbon leaving the cell (leakage), the fixed carbon is strongly depleted in ¹³C. This process is described in the classical model by Sharkey and Berry (1985). This model was later extended by Burkhardt *et al.* 1999a, to account for two possible carbon sources, by adding the term R_{HCO3^-} , resulting in the following expression for ϵ_p :

$$\varepsilon_{\rm p} = R_{HCO_3^-} \cdot \varepsilon_{\rm s} + \varepsilon_{\rm rub} \cdot L$$
 (3)

In this model, R_{HCO3^-} is the fraction of bicarbonate to total carbon taken up by the cell, ε_s represents the equilibrium discrimination between CO₂ and HCO₃⁻, ε_{rub} represents the kinetic fractionation by RuBisCO and *L* represents the leakage out of the cell, which is the ratio of efflux over influx:

$$L = \frac{F_{out}}{F_{in}} \tag{4}$$

The equilibrium discrimination between CO_2 and HCO_3^- (ϵ_s) has been described by Mook *et al.* 1974, which is a function of temperature and has a value of ~9% in common experimental settings. Retrieving an appropriate value for ϵ_{rub} is difficult, as data on RuBisCO kinetics are sparse and limited to few species. Additionally, there are many different types of RuBisCO, which may differ in their kinetic fractionation. Plants and the majority of the cyanobacteria, including *Microcystis aeruginosa*, possess a type 1B RuBisCO (Tabita *et al.* 1999; Shih *et al.* 2016). The intrinsic fractionation of type 1B RuBisCO has been investigated in *Spinacea oleracea* (spinach) and *Anacystis nidulans* (a freshwater cyanobacterium). However even within this RuBisCO type there is a large difference in fractionation: the carbon fractionation of *Spinacea* and *Anacystis* are 29‰ and 22‰, respectively (Roeske and O'Leary, 1984; McNevin *et al.* 2006).

Besides carboxylation of RuBisCO, fractionation may also occur with fluxes of CO_2 and HCO_3^- over the cell membrane. The fractionation associated with these fluxes is however generally considered to be very small (<1‰) (Goericke *et al.*, 1994; Keller and Morel, 1999; Burkhardt *et al.* 1999a). Additionally, fractionation of CO_2 influx and efflux have an opposite net effect, resulting in a net very small contribution to ε_p values, compared to the large fractionation associated with RuBisCO carboxylation. Fractionation occurring during carbon flux over the cell membrane is therefore considered negligible in this study.

There are strong differences in fractionation between species. Differences in CO₂ permeability of the cell membrane, enzymatic fractionation, cellular carbon content and cell surface to volume ratio have been suggested to be potentially important factors causing variation between species (Burkhardt *et al.* 1999b). How these factors affect fractionation is currently poorly understood. A better understood factor that affects fractionation is the growth rate. In fact, it has been attempted to estimate growth rates, or reconstruct them, from fractionation values (Francois *et al.* 1993, Laws 1998, Burkhardt *et al.* 1999a,b). In some cases growth rate has a larger effect on fractionation than pCO_2 (e.g. Burkhardt *et al.* 1999b, Rost *et al.* 2002). Therefore, often the ratio of μ/CO_2 is used to interpret isotope data, describing the CO₂ demand over supply and to account for their combined effects (Laws *et al.* 1997; Rost *et al.* 2002). On the basis of a simple diffusion model Burkhardt *et al.* (1999a) suggested that deviations from an inverse linear relationship between ϵ_p and μ/CO_2 indicate active uptake of carbon and thus the operation of CCMs.

Effects of pCO₂

While phytoplankton may benefit from increased pCO_2 , there may be negative consequences to the concurrent decreased pH. The positive or negative consequences strongly varies between species (Schippers *et al.* 2004). Species with a low affinity for HCO_3^- do not seem carbon saturated at 350 ppm CO_2 and may therefore benefit strongly from increased pCO_2 (Schippers *et al.* 2004). However, calcifying species with a high sensitivity for pH may be negatively affected (Riebesell *et al.* 2000a). These different responses between species show that increased pCO_2 may induce major shifts in the phytoplankton community (Schippers *et al.* 2004; Tortell *et al.* 2008; Trimborn *et al.* 2013). Competition experiments have shown that different strains may respond differentially to increased pCO_2 , which may shift the genotype composition within populations (Van de Waal *et al.* 2011).

For cyanobacteria, increasing levels of pCO_2 may be beneficial. Laboratory studies have shown that elevated atmospheric pCO_2 promotes cyanobacteria growth and biomass build-up (Verschoor *et al.*, 2013; Verspagen *et al.*, 2014b). This effect mainly occurs when nutrients are replete and when high cyanobacteria population densities drive the system to carbon limitation. The increase in pCO_2 may then alleviate the carbon limitation and shift the system to light limitation, promoting biomass buildup (Van de Waal *et al.* 2009; Verspagen *et al.*, 2014b). Systems that are limited by nutrients rather than carbon, would not necessarily benefit from increased pCO_2 . Increased pCO_2 could shift the resource limitation from carbon limitation to nutrient limitation (Van de Waal *et al.* 2009; Verschoor *et al.*, 2013; Verspagen *et al.*, 2014a). This shift does not cause a significant increase in biomass, but it can shift the elemental composition to higher carbon:nutrient ratios (Verschoor *et al.* 2013, Verspagen *et al.* 2014a). This may have considerable impacts on the food quality for grazing zooplankton (Sterner and Elser 2002, Van de Waal *et al.* 2010a).

Like all autotrophs, phytoplankton take up carbon and nutrients separately (Sterner and Elser, 2002). Consequently, phytoplankton have a flexible stoichiometry. Their elemental composition can be greatly affected by the resource availability in the environment. Large shifts in stoichiometry can occur when a resource is in great excess relative to another, resulting in C:N, C:P, N:P ratios deviating strongly from the Redfield ratio (C:N:P=106:16:1). Changes in C:N:P occur due to changes in the abundance of various organic macromolecules or from accumulation of nutrient/energy reserves (Geider and Roche 2002). For example, nitrogen limitation can cause an increase in the C:N ratio. This occurs mainly by an increase in carbohydrate reserves, but also by a decrease of nitrogen-rich compounds as RuBisCO (Turpin 1991). A number of studies has shown that an increase in pCO_2 may greatly enhance C:N ratios (Riebesell *et al.* 2007; Verschoor *et al.* 2013; Verspagen *et al.* 2014a). This occurs in particular when carbon remains replete and nitrogen is limiting (Verspagen *et al.* 2014a).

A change in *p*CO₂ may also have considerable consequences on the carbon acquisition of phytoplankton employing a CCM. The CCM has been shown to respond to available inorganic carbon concentrations. For example, experiments performed with *Chlorella ellipsoidea* by Matsuda and Colman (1995) have shown that a critical level of dissolved CO₂ concentration can induce the operation of CCMs. High concentrations of CO₂ in the medium can lead to a repression of active transport, while low concentrations can induce it (Matsuda and Colman 1995, Matsuda *et al.* 1998). This change in CCM activity is associated with a change in affinity for inorganic carbon. Cyanobacteria are shown to increase their affinity for inorganic carbon at low concentrations of inorganic carbon (McGinn *et al.* 2003, Ma and Gao 2014). This change in affinity for inorganic carbon is mainly due to

the induction of the various CO_2 and HCO_3^- transporters at low carbon availability (McGinn *et al.* 2003, Badger *et al.* 2006). At low pCO_2 this allows cyanobacteria to deplete CO_2 further to very low levels. Additionally, with increased CCM activity at low pCO_2 / high pH, the lack of available CO_2 can be compensated by an increase in the proportion of HCO_3^- taken up (Rost *et al.* 2003; Kranz *et al.* 2010).

Research subject and hypothesis

To summarize, an increase in pCO_2 in lakes, driven by the anthropogenic increase of atmospheric CO_2 or increase in allochtonous DOC respiration may have large consequences on the growth and cellular processes of harmful cyanobacteria. In cyanobacteria blooms, during which inorganic carbon is depleted and nitrogen is replete, an increase in pCO₂ could alleviate carbon limitation, leading to an increase in biomass build-up. It may also induce nitrogen limitation and cause an increase in carbon:nitrogen ratios. Such an increase in carbon:nutrient ratios is indicative of major cellular changes such as accumulation or reduction of nutrient/energy reserves and changes in the abundance of compounds like RuBisCO. Carbon acquisition may be influenced by elevated pCO_2 as it may cause a down-regulation of CCMs, but also by changes in relative nitrogen availability, as this is required for RuBisCO. All-in-all, changes in pCO₂ may significantly alter cyanobacteria growth and cellular processes, but the nature of these changes is strongly dependent on the prevailing nutrient conditions. Isotopic fractionation may provide information concerning the changes in carbon acquisition. Furthermore, from a different perspective, fundamental knowledge on CO₂-driven and nutrient-driven changes on cellular processes affecting isotopic fractionation is required for the validation and refinement of carbon isotope values as a CO_2 proxy. In this research we therefore investigate changes in growth, carbon uptake, and elemental composition driven by the availability of inorganic carbon and nitrogen.

We investigated the response of three strains of the toxic, bloom forming freshwater cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa* to a wide range of pCO_2 that can occur in natural environments, in nitrogen replete and depleted conditions. We expected an increase in growth rate and biomass build-up with increasing levels of pCO_2 in nutrient replete conditions, especially from the point where pCO_2 may be limiting. In contrast, in nitrogen deplete conditions we expected no large change in biomass build-up, but do expect an increase in carbon:nutrient ratios. We furthermore predicted a general increase in carbon isotope fractionation with increasing pCO_2 , reflecting changes in carbon acquisition and the activity of the CCM.

Material and Methods

Three different Microcystis aeruginosa strains, PCC 7820, NIES 1099 and HUB 524 were incubated at five different pCO_2 levels, which at the end of the experiment resulted in measured pCO_2 of 6.2-101.2 μatm; 112-267 μatm; 509-825 μatm; 1326-1697 μatm; 2126-2737 μatm. They were grown as single cells in monoculture, but were not axenic. Continuous input of moist air at the bottom of the culture vessels caused homogeneous mixing and turbulence, which prevented settling of the cells. Microscopic inspection confirmed that cells were grown generally as single cells. The gas was a mixture of N₂, O₂ and CO₂ for the lower than ambient CO₂ treatments. Higher CO₂ treatments consisted of pressurized air and specific amounts of additional CO₂ gas. The gasses were combined using a Brooks® Smart II mass flow controller, which controlled the gas pressure of the components and the mixture. The pCO_2 levels of the treatments were confirmed by calculation of the pCO_2 in the excel macro CO2sys (Pierrot et al., 2006), using the alkalinity and pH of uninoculated medium after equilibrating with a continuous flow of the gas mixture. DIC uptake of the cyanobacteria resulted in offsets from these treatments and the final pCO_2 was calculated with alkalinity and pH measured at the end of each experiment. The organisms were grown under saturating light conditions, with a light intensity of 100 ±15 µmol photons m⁻²s⁻¹ supplied by daylight tubes (PL-L 24W/840/4p, Philips) at a light:dark cycle of 16:8 h. The temperature was maintained at 22±1°C. Dilute batch experiments as well as chemostat experiments were performed with the same gas mixture, leading to similar, but not equal pCO_2 conditions. This is due to differences in population densities. In the dilute batch experiments, nutrients were replete so the cyanobacteria could grow at their maximum growth rate. In this exponential growth phase the cell density increases rapidly while the nutrient concentration declines. In the chemostat experiments, nutrients were deplete and growth was limited by resource availability. In this system a steady state is reached, where the cell density is stabilized and the limiting nutrient is depleted to its minimum concentration. This minimum concentration is determined by the nutrient affinity, maximum uptake rate and cellular quota of the species (Tilman, 1982; Litchman et al. 2007). At steady state growth is equal to the dilution rate. Therefore, the responses to pCO_2 in the different chemostat experiments were independent of growth rate. Furthermore, in steady state nitrate consumption equals the supply rate. This allows a continuous culture to reach and maintain N-limited conditions. The set-up of both types of experiments are explained below.

Batch experiments

The three *Microcystis* strains were grown in 1 liter bottles, three replicates per strain. The cyanobacteria were grown in modified WC medium (Kilham *et al.* 1998), adjusted to 500 μ mol L⁻¹ HCO₃⁻. Before starting the experiments the organisms were acclimated to the experimental conditions for 7 generations, after which the acclimated culture was added to fresh medium. On a daily basis pH, cell count, biovolume and chlorophyll a content were measured. After typically 2-3 generations (4 days) the cells were harvested around the middle of the light period and additional samples were taken for the determination of alkalinity, nutrients, dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC) and particulate organic C, N and P, including δ^{13} C of DIC and organic C.

Chemostats experiments

The cyanobacteria were grown in chemostats with a working volume of 1.7 liter and an optical path length of 5 cm (Huisman *et al.* 2002). They were grown in modified, nitrogen limited, WC medium (Kilham *et al.* 1998), adjusted to 500 μ mol L⁻¹ HCO₃⁻. and 200 μ mol L⁻¹ NO₃⁻. Nutrients were added continuously with a dilution rate of 0.2 d⁻¹. Temperature was maintained by a cooling finger. Cultures were acclimatized for a period of 2-3 weeks. Treatments were run until steady state was reached, defined as the level at which the biomass stabilizes and remains within the bounds of 10% variation for over a week. The pH, cell count, biovolume and chlorophyll a was measured three times a week. Alkalinity was measured on average once a week. At steady state, samples were taken for residual nutrients. On the final day, around the middle of the light cycle, additional samples were taken for measurements of DIC and particulate organic C, N and P. After a treatment was finished, >80% of the volume was removed, vessels were refilled with medium, and cultures were acclimated again for a period of 2-3 weeks after the next pCO_2 level was set.

Measurements

After samples were taken, the pH and temperature were measured with a WTW pH/conductivity 340i, while the sample was being stirred by a magnetic stirrer. Cell counts and biovolume were measured with a Beckman Coulter Multisizer[™] 3 counter. Samples for alkalinity were filtered over a pre-washed Whatman® GF/F glass microfiber filter (~0.7 um) and then analyzed on a Titralab® titration manager TIM840. Samples for nutrients were filtered over a 0.4 µm Satorius membrane filter, stored at -20°C and analyzed on a QuAAtro39, Seal Quaatro, Analytical Ltd. autoanalyzer. DIC samples were taken at the same way as these nutrient samples. The DIC samples were then analyzed for their isotopic content according to Salata *et al.* 2000 using a GC-IRMS at Utrecht University with an accuracy of ~0.1‰. Particulate organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus was determined by filtering 10-60mL of the culture suspension to get approximately 1*10⁸ µm³ biovolume on the filter, followed by drying of the filters at 60°C and then analyzed for carbon and nitrogen on a Thermo interscience NC analyser FlashEA®1112. Particulate organic phosphorus samples were ashed in an oven at 500°C, digested with 2.5% persulfate in an autoclave at 121°C and finally analyzed on a QuAAtro39, Seal Quaatro, Analytical Ltd. autoanalyser.

Calculations

The 24-hour specific growth rates (μ) for the dilute batch experiments were determined based on cell densities by means of a best exponential fit through all measurements, according to:

$N_t = N_0 \cdot e^{\mu t}$

Where N_t represents the cell density at time t, N_0 represents the cell density at the first measurement and μ refers to the growth rate. Carbon and nitrogen production rate was calculated based on the cellular carbon and nitrogen quota (Q), multiplied with μ . Carbon production rate is sometimes also referred to as carbon-specific growth rate (μ_c).

For parameters of the batch experiment (n=3) that were calculated, such as μ_c and C:N ratios, error propagation was applied using the standard deviations of the measured parameters, SD_{var1} and SD_{var2} and their respective averages avg_{var1} and avg_{var2} while assuming independence of variance, according to:

$$SD_{propegated} = \sqrt{(SD_{var1} - avg_{var1})^2 + (SD_{var2} - avg_{var2})^2} * value$$

Propagated standard deviations are shown in the figures.

To determine fractionation (equation 3) the δ^{13} C of CO₂ is required. This was calculated from δ^{13} C of DIC using mass balance equations as described in Zeebe and Wolf-Gladrow, 2001. Required values for equilibrium fractionations between the components in the carbonate system were retrieved from Mook *et al.* 1974 and Zhang *et al.* 1995. They developed equations that describe this equilibrium fractionation as a function of temperature. The equilibrium value for CO₂ and bicarbonate is -9.32‰ at our experimental temperature (22°C) (Mook *et al.* 1974) and the equilibrium value for CO₂ and carbonate is 6.08‰ (Zhang *et al.* 1995). The concentrations of CO₂, HCO₃⁻ and CO₃²⁻ were determined in CO2sys using the alkalinity and pH measured at the end of each experiment.

Results

Carbon chemistry in the experimental cultures was not only affected by the applied CO₂ treatment, but also by cyanobacteria growth. Compared to the batch cultures, populations in the chemostats reached higher population densities. This resulted, despite similar gas supply, in a larger drawdown of CO₂ in the chemostats. Especially with the lowest CO₂ treatment (target: 50 ppm), the *p*CO₂ of the medium was 3-11 times lower in the chemostat cultures than in the batch cultures. At the highest *p*CO₂ treatment (target: 1600 ppm) one of the chemostat populations with the PCC-7820 strain washed out, consequently for this strain only data for a single chemostat is available at the highest *p*CO₂ treatment.



Figure 2. Carbon and nitrogen cell quota. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1).

Changes in both carbon and nitrogen cell quotas were observed with increasing pCO_2 , especially in the lower CO_2 range (fig.2). Nitrogen conditions seem to have a major effect on both carbon and nitrogen cell quotas as well, and seem to interact with the effects of elevated pCO_2 . Specifically, in nitrogen replete conditions (+N), carbon cell quotas decreased with increasing pCO_2 for the PCC-7820 and the NIES-1099 strains. While in nitrogen deplete conditions (-N), apart from increased carbon cell quota at the lowest pCO_2 treatment, no large and no consistent trend is observed in the different strains. Nitrogen limitation systematically resulted in lower nitrogen cell quota. Accounting for cell size by taking quota per biovolume instead, results in similar trends with increasing pCO_2 (supplementary fig. 1). Carbon quota of showed contrasting responses to N limitation between the strains, particularly at higher pCO_2 , with an increase in PCC-7820, decrease in NIES-1099 and no change in HUB-524.



Figure 3. Carbon and nitrogen production rates. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1).

Carbon and nitrogen production rates (fig.3) and growth rates (supplementary fig. 2) in +N show an increase from the lowest pCO_2 treatment to an optimum between 240-616 µatm. Growth rates in +N decreased for all strains for $pCO_2 > 1465$ µatm (supplementary fig. 2). This is also reflected in carbon and nitrogen production rates, which decreased at high pCO_2 (fig. 3). The population densities in -N increased with increasing pCO_2 (supplementary fig. 3). Carbon and nitrogen production rates in -N show an initial decrease at the lowest pCO_2 , but towards higher pCO_2 no general trend is visible in the different strains. Nitrogen limitation results in much lower overall production rates and a low sensitivity of these rates to pCO_2 .



Figure 4. C:N ratios. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1). The line represents Redfield ratio (C:N= 6.625)

For all strains there is a general trend of decreasing C:N with increasing pCO_2 under excess nitrogen conditions, which levels off to just below the Redfield ratio at intermediate pCO_2 . An opposite trend is observed under nitrogen deplete conditions. While at low pCO_2 C:N values approach Redfield ratio, at high pCO_2 nitrogen deplete conditions resulted in up to two times higher cellular C:N ratios in nitrogen deplete than in nitrogen excess conditions. At very low and very high pCO_2 levels, the cellular C:N seems similar in all strains. However, under nitrogen deplete conditions the strain PCC-7820 responds more gradual to increasing pCO_2 .



Figure 5. Carbon isotope fractionation. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1). Trend lines are logarithmic best fits. The regression results are provided in supplementary tables 1+2.

Fractionation increases logarithmically with increasing pCO_2 . With high pCO_2 the fractionation is high and the ε_p approaches the value of kinetic fractionation by RuBisCO in -N (Spinach RuBisCO: 29‰, Roeske and O'Leary, 1984). While with low pCO_2 the ε_p is negative under N limited conditions and it approaches the value of equilibrium discrimination of bicarbonate and dissolved CO_2 (-9.3‰, calculated with T=22 °C from Mook *et al.* 1974). In nitrogen deplete conditions the range of ε_p is much higher than in nitrogen excess conditions. The sensitivity of carbon fractionation to pCO_2 is much higher in -N than in +N. The relation between fractionation and carbon demand/carbon supply is given by μ_c/pCO_2 (figure 5, right), which is well represented by a logarithmically decreasing line in both nitrogen treatments. This relation also shows a steeper slope in -N than in +N.

Discussion

Response of cell quota and stoichiometry

This research investigated the response of *Microcystis aeruginosa* to different pCO_2 , ranging from 6-2737 μ atm, in excess nitrogen as well as nitrogen deplete conditions. Changes in pCO₂ strongly affected the elemental composition of *Microcystis*. Cell quotas were affected by the imposed pCO_2 conditions and by the availability of nitrogen. Carbon and nitrogen cell quota showed a comparable direction in response, with an initial sharp decrease with pCO_2 that levelled off above close to present day pCO2. However, under nitrogen limited conditions, the decreases in N were stronger than of C, while under N replete conditions, the decrease in C was stronger than in N. This resulted in an opposite response of C:N ratios to increasing pCO_2 (fig.4). Such changes are often observed in photoautotrophs, and reflect their flexible stoichiometry. This flexibility results from the capability of phytoplankton to take up carbon and nutrients separately (Sterner and Elser, 2002). However, there are limits to the flexibility as the metabolism of carbon and nitrogen are tightly coupled (De Marsac et al. 2001). For example, the synthesis of amino acids involves both the carbon and nitrogen metabolism. A pulse of nitrogen may promote the production of arginine and generate a high demand for 2-oxoglutarate, which is a product of the carbon metabolism required for arginine synthesis (e.g. Van de Waal et al. 2010b). This shows interactions between nitrogen assimilation and carbon metabolism can occur during compound synthesis (De Marsac et al. 2001). This coupling of carbon and nitrogen metabolism may explain the similarity between the response of carbon and nitrogen cell quotas to increasing pCO_2 , affecting the general shape of the graphs. For instance, it has been shown that under carbon limitation the rates of nitrogen uptake are decreased (De Marsac et al. 2001). This may also be reflected by our data, as nitrogen production rates strongly decreased under to low pCO_2 under excess nitrogen conditions (fig. 3). Nitrogen cell quota for NIES-1099 and HUB-524 also decreased under these conditions. Interestingly, under nitrogen deplete conditions, the opposite is observed, with increased nitrogen cell quota and increased nitrogen production rates at low pCO_2 of 6-29 µatm. This occurs together with a large decrease in population density at these low pCO_2 . The strong drawdown of pCO_2 and a concurrent decrease in population density indicates carbon limitation. Furthermore at low pCO₂, C:N ratios approach Redfield ratio (fig. 4).

It is clear that major changes occur by the combined effect of low pCO_2 and nitrogen deplete conditions. Under such conditions, carbon, nitrogen or both may be limiting. The large changes in stoichiometry with increasing pCO_2 indicate a strong sensitivity to pCO_2 , especially in the nitrogen depleted treatment at very low pCO_2 . Here, NO₃⁻ levels in the medium are shown to increase, which may suggest nitrogen is not limiting in this situation. Alternatively, lower pCO_2 levels reduce the efficiency by which nitrogen can be acquired, and thereby resulting in an increased residual NO₃⁻.

While at the lowest pCO_2 treatment, CO_2 may be limiting in the nitrogen depleted treatment, the chemostats switch to nitrogen limitation at the higher pCO_2 treatments. This switch from carbon limitation to nitrogen limitation has been described and reported by Verspagen *et al.* (2014a). They describe shifts in the limiting resource by a model, supported by chemostat experiments. They show that elevated pCO_2 can cause a shift from carbon to nitrogen limitation, thereby causing a decrease in dissolved nitrogen concentrations, and an increase in C:N ratios as well as population densities.

Our results are largely in line with their findings. The opposite trend in C:N under nitrogen replete conditions, however, is not represented by the model by Verspagen *et al.* 2014a. After a close inspection of their experimental chemostat data, however, there might be an optimum in C:N around 100 ppm pCO_2 , which compares with our lowest pCO_2 treatment and its associated maximum C:N.

Response of growth and carbon acquisition

As the results in the previous paragraph indicate, the responses towards changes in pCO_2 are complex and not linear. Substantial changes in growth and cell quotas with increasing pCO_2 are observed. These changes may be driven by changes in carbon acquisition, since phytoplankton have a strong capability to actively respond to the carbon availability (Matsuda et al. 1998, Moroney 1999). While the operation of CCMs is induced at a critical level of dissolved CO₂ concentration for the green algae Chlorella ellipsoidea, the induction of CCMs of cyanobacteria seems to be dependent on concentrations of bicarbonate or total inorganic carbon instead (Mayo et al. 1986, Matsuda and Colman 1995, Beardall et al. 1998). The carbon affinity in Synechococcus leopoliensis (cyanobacterium) showed a strong change in the [DIC] range of 10-1000 μM (Mayo et al. 1986), which is well in the range of DIC concentrations in our study. Our data indicate that [DIC] generally increased with pCO_2 , mainly due to chemical enhancement induced by the rise in alkalinity and pH associated with phytoplankton CO₂ and NO₃⁻ uptake (Zeebe and Wolf-Gladrow, 2001; Soetaert et al., 2007; Wolf-Gladrow et al. 2007). DIC concentrations ranged between 500 and 1000 µM. If Microcystis has a response to DIC similar to S. leopoliensis, repression of the CCM is expected at increasing concentrations of DIC. This can have a major influence on carbon acquisition and the energy balance in the cell (Eichner et al. 2015). Under low pCO₂ conditions, active uptake mechanisms for both CO_2 and HCO_3^- can be induced, increasing their substrate affinities (Price *et al.* 2008). Despite CCM induction at low pCO_2 , the *Microcystis* strains investigated here, have impaired carbon production rate and growth rate at low pCO_2 (fig. 3, supplementary fig. 2), which is consistent with carbon limitation (Riebesell et al. 1993). Additionally, it has been suggested that growth may also be decreased due to a reallocation of energy used for growth to CCM activity (Burnap et al. 2015). An increase in CCM activity is primarily due to increased synthesis of various CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ transporters (Badger et al. 2003). These transporters require considerable energy and an upregulation may therefore require additional energy (Burnap et al. 2015; energy costs are summarized in Sandrini et al. 2015b).

Another possibility for decreased growth at low pCO_2 is photoinhibition. Some species of cyanobacteria are sensitive to light. For instance, the freshwater cyanobacterium *Planktothrix agardhii* has been shown to be inhibited at irradiances of > 100 µmol in non-extreme CO₂ conditions (Tonk *et al.* 2005). In our study, relatively low light is used (100 ±15 µmol photons m⁻²s⁻¹), which is generally below the limit where photoinhibition is observed in cyanobacteria, including *Microcystis* (Coles and Jones, 2000). However, in contrast to Coles and Jones (2000), we apply dilute batch cultures, which maintain a relatively higher light exposure per cell. For growth in very low levels of pCO_2 photoinhibition may occur as excess energy cannot be shunted to CO₂ fixation. This has been shown for the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. When these cells are grown at low pCO_2 they have a fully induced CCM and appear to be more sensitive to photoinhibition than their high- pCO_2 grown counterparts (Falk *et al.* 1992). Similarly, a higher sensitivity for photoinhibition has also been shown to occur in cyanobacteria that experience carbon limitation (Ibelings and Maberly, 1998).

It is striking that growth rates of the investigated strains of *Microcystis* at high pCO_2 are also impaired. At high pCO_2 the CCM can be downregulated to a minimum activity (Price *et al.* 2008) and the cells could then rely more on diffusive uptake, which would decrease the energy costs associated with carbon uptake (Raven and Johnston 1991; Giordano *et al.* 2005; Raven *et al.* 2011). However, the impaired growth rates in our experiments show that this additional available energy apparently cannot be used for growth and that, in fact, growth is hindered somehow in these conditions. A possible explanation for this may be additional light stress. It has been suggested that the CCM may also play an important role in the dissipating of excess light energy, preventing high light stress (Kaplan and Reinhold, 1999; Herrero and Flores 2008). With a downregulated CCM at high pCO_2 , the cells might be more sensitive for this.

An alternative explanation for decreased growth rates at high pCO_2 may be found in downregulation of one of the bicarbonate uptake systems. Cyanobacteria are known to use a significant proportion of bicarbonate as their inorganic carbon source. Some species of cyanobacteria e.g. the marine nitrogen-fixer *Trichodesmium* even use HCO_3^- as main carbon source, especially at low pCO_2 (Kranz *et al*. 2010). A switch to HCO_3^- uptake in CO_2 limiting conditions would be strongly beneficial if HCO_3^- is in excess, such as in our experiments. However, *Microcystis* may not be able to rely on HCO_3^- uptake as strongly as *Trichodesmium*. For instance, Verspagen *et al*. (2014b) have suggested that the strain HUB-524 requires uptake of CO_2 , as growth is substantially impaired (35% of maximum) under strongly limiting pCO_2 and excess HCO_3^- .

Bicarbonate can be actively taken up by a number of bicarbonate uptake systems: bicA: a low affinity, high flux uptake system; sbtA: a high affinity, low flux uptake system and BCT1: a high affinity, low flux uptake system (Sandrini *et al.* 2015a). The bicA and sbtA are sodium-dependent bicarbonate transporters and BCT1 is ATP dependent (Sandrini *et al.* 2015a). Cyanobacteria possessing all three bicarbonate uptake systems are the most versatile in their response to inorganic carbon (Sandrini *et al.* 2014). In a number of strains, one of the two sodium-dependent bicarbonate transporters is missing. The strains investigated in our study are specialists and possess sbtA as only sodium-dependent transporter (Sandrini *et al.* 2014, unpublished data). Similarly, the strain NIES-843, in the study of Sandrini *et al.* (2014), also possesses sbtA and not bicA. This strain has impaired growth at high pCO_2 , just like the strains investigated in our study. Sandrini *et al.* (2014) have suggested that impaired growth may be due to a reduced sbtA expression in high pCO_2 . This may also be the case in the strains investigated here. A reduced sbtA expression may lead to decreased reliance of the cell to bicarbonate uptake and an increase in active or diffusive CO_2 uptake.

To summarize, growth rates are negatively affected in low pCO_2 and high pCO_2 . This may be due to the effect of pCO_2 on the expression of CCMs (and at low pCO_2 , possibly the related energy costs) or this may be due to photoinhibition. In the following parts we investigate changes in carbon acquisition using the carbon isotope data.

Carbon isotope fractionation

The maximum fractionation value found in this study is 29.3‰, in the HUB-524 strain. This is much higher than the intrinsic fractionation of RuBisCO of *Anacystis nidulans* (22‰; McNevin *et al.* 2006). The RuBisCO in *Microcystis* may have a high intrinsic fractionation, perhaps comparable with RuBisCO

from spinach (29‰; Roeske and O'Leary, 1984). Alternatively, carbon fixation by RuBisCO may not be the only process that discriminates against ¹³C. Yet, fractionation by most other processes in phytoplankton is considered to be small, but will add uncertainty (Goericke et al. 1994). There is a general increase of ε_p with increasing pCO₂. This trend of ε_p with increasing pCO₂ is observed in many different kinds of phytoplankton and is generally caused, as equation 3 describes, by a decrease in HCO₃⁻ relative to total carbon uptake (R_{HCO3}-), and/or an increase in leakage (Sharkey and Berry 1985; Burkhardt *et al.* 1999a; Hoins *et al.* 2016a). Initially there is a strong sensitivity of ε_p to changes in pCO₂, while at high pCO₂ this levels off. A diffusion model by Rau et al. (1996) predicts a hyperbolic relation between ε_p and CO₂. This means that ε_p is most sensitive to change in low pCO₂. The convexity of this relation decreases upon increasing μ . A higher sensitivity at low pCO₂ is also observed in the decreasing logarithmic relationship of ε_p vs. μ/pCO_2 (supplementary fig. 4; note: logarithmic x-axis). If Microcystis would rely on pure diffusive uptake of CO₂, a linear relationship between these parameters would be expected (Laws et al. 1995; Laws et al. 1997). The lack of a linear relationship here confirms that regulated carbon uptake occurs in our Microcystis strains (Burkhardt *et al.* 1999a). The dependence of ε_p on changes in active uptake is due to the fact that the activity of CCMs can affect both leakage and R_{HCO3} -. Induction of CCMs at low pCO_2 may therefore lead to changes in ε_p , promoting the sensitivity of ε_p to pCO₂. At high pCO₂ the activity of CCMs is decreased to a constitutive level (Price et al. 2008), where fractionation approaches its maximum value.

Another factor that clearly affects ε_p in our data is nitrogen limitation. In many different kinds of phytoplankton nitrogen limitation leads to increased ε_p (Hoins *et al.* 2016b; Hoins, 2016). It has been suggested that a higher ε_p under nitrogen limited conditions is due to changes in the energy balance in the cell, which potentially increases internal CO₂ recycling or active carbon uptake (Riebesell *et al.* 2000b, Hoins *et al.* 2016b; Hoins, 2016). The response of ε_p to pCO_2 in nitrogen limited conditions has been shown to strongly differ between/among species (Hoins *et al.* 2016b; Hoins, 2016). In nitrogen limitation some species fractionation even seem insensitive to changes in CO₂, such as the marine cyanobacteria *Trichodesmium* and the dinoflagellates *Alexandrium fundyense and Scrippsiella trochoidea* (Eichner *et al.* 2014; Hoins *et al.* 2016b; Hoins 2016). This is not the case with our data of *Microcystis*, which shows a higher sensitivity of ε_p to pCO_2 under nitrogen limitation than under nitrogen excess conditions.

The ε_p vs pCO_2 data were well described by logarithmic fits (fig. 5, supplementary table 1). A similar relation was found in field data of Smyntek *et al.* (2012). They modelled the relation based on algal physiology (Cassar *et al.* 2006) and supported this with data from a zooplankton species (*Daphnia galeata*) in a eutrophic lake. Just as in our results, a steep increase in ε_p occurs at low pCO_2 , followed by a more or less linear relationship at medium to high pCO_2 . In an extensive study of 16 different lakes by Morales-Williams *et al.* (2016), again a steep increase of fractionation is observed at low pCO_2 , but no predictive relationship between ε_p and pCO_2 is found from medium to high pCO_2 . These results suggest that ε_p may mainly be a clear indicator of pCO_2 at the low pCO_2 range. The effect of nitrogen limitation on the ε_p vs pCO_2 relation differs greatly between species, as was indicated in the previous paragraph. For *Microcystis*, nitrogen limitation has been shown to lead to a steeper relationship of ε_p vs CO_2 , which increases the usefulness of ε_p as pCO_2 indicator.

Cellular leakage and bicarbonate usage

The response of leakage and R_{HCO3} - to pCO_2 has been shown to vary considerably among different species of dinoflagellates (Hoins et al. 2015). While some species show a decrease of R_{HCO3}- with increasing CO₂ and some species show an increase in leakage, others show no significant change in these parameters with increasing pCO_2 (Hoins *et al.* 2015). The proportion of bicarbonate to total fixed carbon can generally not be determined from fractionation data alone. For this, information about the cellular leakage is required (equation 3), which can be experimentally determined with Membrane Inlet Mass Spectrometry (MIMS). However, since shifts in fractionation values in this study are found to be very large in the nitrogen depleted treatment, ranging between -7.8‰ and 29.3‰, some estimates on the proportion of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake can be made. In these calculations, an intrinsic fractionation of RuBisCO was assumed to be 29‰, which is the intrinsic fractionation of the RuBisCO of spinach (Roeske and O'Leary, 1984). This value is close to the maximum observed fractionation by Microcystis aeruginosa in this study. Assuming this value, an increase in leakage can only explain a shift in fractionation up to 29‰. For all strains, the maximum shift in fractionation with increasing pCO_2 is larger: a maximum shift of 30.9-32.4‰ is shown. These values can be explained by a decrease of R_{HCO3} - with increasing pCO₂, which means that the bicarbonate fraction of total carbon uptake is decreasing with increasing pCO_2 , under nitrogen depleted conditions. Provided a shift in leakage explains a shift of fractionation of 29‰, the remaining 1.9-3.4‰ could indicate a decrease in R_{HCO3}- of at least 0.20-0.36. Therefore, if a value of 29‰ for RuBisCO fractionation is a valid constraint and other uncertainties are <1.9‰, we can conclude that the proportion of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake decreases for all investigated strains with increasing pCO_2 .

Using the extreme ε_p values allows further constraining of R_{HCO3^-} and leakage. Assuming minimal leakage, i.e. values approaching 0, eliminates the effect of ε_{rub} on ε_p , so at this point fractionation is completely dependent on R_{HCO3^-} . Fractionation values lower than 0 are therefore caused by bicarbonate uptake. Consequently, we can estimate minimum bicarbonate uptake. For determining maximum bicarbonate uptake, we set the upper constraint of leakage to a value of 1. We choose this value because: 1) the data show various ε_p values close to, and even slightly higher than ε_{rub} , 2) the lack of a reliable constraint on L_{max} , and 3) leakage is the only term in the model used to allow such high ε_p . With a maximum value of 1 for leakage in equation 3, the maximum proportion of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake can be calculated for the highest ε_p values. How these leakage constraints can be used for constraining R_{HCO3^-} in the applied one-compartment model (equation 3) is discussed in the next paragraph and is elucidated in figure 6.



Figure 6. Relation between ε_p and pCO₂ using a one-compartment model. Here is assumed that leakage increases with increasing pCO₂, while R_{HCO3^-} is set at to constant value. ε_p approaches the value of equilibrium discrimination of bicarbonate and dissolved CO₂ ($\varepsilon_s = -9.3\%_0$) at low pCO₂ (leakage approaching 0) if most carbon is taken up in the form of HCO_3^- , while ε_p approaches the intrinsic fractionation of RuBisCO ($\varepsilon_{rub} = 29\%_0$) at high pCO₂ (leakage approaching 1).

The HUB-524 strain in the nitrogen depleted treatment has the broadest range of ε_p values. The negative ε_p values at low pCO_2 shown in fig.5 are caused by HCO₃⁻ uptake, since HCO₃⁻ is ¹³C enriched compared to CO₂ and fractionation is expressed relative to CO₂. If we assume leakage to be 0 at these negative values, we can calculate the minimum fraction of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake by dividing the ε_p value by the value of equilibrium discrimination of bicarbonate and dissolved CO₂ ($\varepsilon_s = -9.3\%_0$, at 22°C; Mook *et al.* 1974) (fig. 6). Since the ε_p values at high *p*CO₂ under nitrogen limitation are very close to its maximum value ($\varepsilon_{rub} = 29\%_0$: RuBisCO fractionation), there is an upper limit to the possible contribution of R_{HCO3^-} to ε_p (since a higher contribution of R_{HCO3^-} decreases ε_p) (fig. 6). Therefore we can calculate the maximum fraction of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake value using leakage = 1 and again a value of equilibrium discrimination of bicarbonate and dissolved CO₂ (ε_s) of -9.3‰. The resulting calculations show that the minimum fraction of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake using uptake is 0.34 at low *p*CO₂ for the HUB-524 strain, while the maximum fraction at high *p*CO₂ is found to be 0 and 0.14 at the two highest *p*CO₂ treatments. This shows that the HUB-524 strain takes up a relatively large portion of HCO₃⁻ at low *p*CO₂, while at high *p*CO₂ this portion is much smaller.

In conclusion, the fractionation data indicate that all three *Microcystis* strains rely more strongly on CO_2 uptake at high pCO_2 than at low pCO_2 . For the HUB-524 strain we concluded that it uses a relatively large proportion of HCO_3^- at low pCO_2 , while it may be nearly completely reliant on CO_2 uptake at high pCO_2 .

Fractionation models

If the proportion of bicarbonate uptake to total C uptake would have been measured, leakage could be calculated by using equation 3. Alternatively, it could be calculated from oxygen evolution and inorganic carbon fluxes measured by MIMS (see Badger *et al.* 1994, Rost *et al.* 2007, Kranz *et al.* 2009). Discrepancies between these methods have led to a reevaluation of the model used. Traditional models linking fractionation to leakage consider the cell as a single compartment, so that fractionation is directly dependent on the ratio between influx and efflux to and from the cell (fig.7A)



Figure 7. Fractionation models. (A) Traditional one-compartment model (adapted from Sharkey and Berry, 1985 to include two carbon sources, as described in Burkhardt et al. 1999a). (B) Two-compartment model, by Eichner et al. 2015.

A newer model for eukaryotic algae by Schulz et al. (2007) considers an additional compartment, the chloroplast, so that internal carbon cycling can occur in the cell. Internal carbon cycling can resupply lost carbon to the chloroplast, replenishing the ¹²C pool used for fixation. Increased internal cycling may therefore increase fractionation, independent of leakage out of the cell. Leakage estimated from fractionation values using a traditional model, as is done in this study, may consequently be overestimated if internal cycling plays a significant role. This however does not allow maximum ϵ_p exceeding the intrinsic fractionation of RuBisCO. The ε_p values found in this study are much higher than the intrinsic fractionation found for the RuBisCO of cyanobacterium Anacystis nidulans. Though the RuBisCO in *Microcystis* may simply have a very high intrinsic fractionation, comparable to the RuBisCO of spinach, the observed values may also be explained by a two compartment model Eichner et al. (2015) (Fig. 7B) developed using the cyanobacterium Trichodesmium. The discrepancies for leakage estimation between the MIMS based approach and the carbon isotope approach is minimized if internal cycling not only resupplies lost carbon, but also fractionates. The internal cycling is described in figure 7B as F_{cvt} , with as fractionation ϵ_{cvt} , resulting in a lower δ^{13} C in the cytosol. In this research area, still much has to be resolved, but if indeed internal cycling is a process causing fractionation, it may be an alternative explanation for the high fractionation values found in this study.

Combined response of pCO_2 and nitrogen on carbon acquisition

Some distinct differences are shown in the ε_p data between nitrogen treatments. Firstly, ε_p seems to saturate at a much lower level in +N than in -N. Secondly, ε_p is more sensitive to a change in pCO₂ in -N (fig. 5). This indicates that the carbon uptake or leakage is strongly affected by the availability of nitrogen. In order to assess which factors influencing fractionation are affected by the nitrogen condition, we investigate the data in relation to the carbon fractionation model. According to equation 3, fractionation is a function of the proportion of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake of the cell (R_{HCO3}-) and of cellular leakage (L). R_{HCO3}- has been shown to be lower in *Microcystis aeruginosa* under -N conditions (Harke and Gobler, 2015), however, it is not known if and how this changes with increasing pCO_2 . To our knowledge the combined effect of pCO_2 and nitrogen limitation on R_{HCO3}- in algae has not been investigated. The effect of increasing pCO_2 on R_{HCO3}- and L have been shown to vary considerably between dinoflagellate species (Eberlein et al. 2014; Hoins et al. 2016a). A strong preference for CO₂ as carbon source is connected with high values for leakage (Hoins et al. 2016a). The effect of bicarbonate on total fractionation is limited, as a maximum shift in R_{HCO3}- only leads to a shift in fractionation of 9.3% (ε_s ; calculated from Mook *et al.* 1974). This effect is even likely to be lower, since the maximum R_{HCO3} - is typically less than 1, as shown by Verspagen *et al.* (2014b) who observed strongly impaired growth if cells were grown with bicarbonate as only carbon source. So, the effect of leakage on isotope fractionation is much larger than the effect of bicarbonate. Indeed, an increase in leakage with increasing pCO_2 explains the high increase in fractionation with pCO_2 observed in the nitrogen depleted treatment (-N). Leakage was previously described as a function of the carbon flux leaving the cell over the carbon flux entering the cell (equation 4). Alternatively, leakage (L) may be expressed into terms of demand and supply in the cell by rewriting equation 4 as:

$$L = 1 - \frac{C_{fixed}}{F_{in}} \tag{5}$$

Where C_{fixed} is the carbon production per cell (demand) and F_{in} is the total influx of CO₂ (supply). Combining this with equation 3, gives the following expression for ε_p :

$$\varepsilon_{\rm p} = R_{HCO_3^-} \cdot \varepsilon_{\rm s} + \varepsilon_{\rm rub} \cdot (1 - \frac{C_{fixed}}{F_{in}})$$
 (6)

In this expression, there are two unknowns (R_{HCO3} - and F_{in}). Either or both of these factors may be the cause of the differences in fractionation between nitrogen treatments. As previously indicated, in -N, leakage increases with pCO_2 . This increase in leakage cannot be explained by the term C_{fixed} in equation 6, as only a slight change in C_{fixed} (carbon production) with increasing pCO_2 occurs and no consistent trend among strains, while ε_p and leakage do increase strongly in all strains. This means F_{in} is the major factor that increases with pCO_2 in -N conditions. So, despite a decreased uptake of bicarbonate at high pCO_2 (as was concluded earlier), total carbon influx increases with pCO_2 under nitrogen limitation.

Under low pCO_2 , fractionation is higher in +N than in –N. This can be explained by either, a lower R_{HCO3} - in +N at low pCO_2 , which can increase the value of ε_p , or by a higher leakage, which also increases ε_p . If we investigate a possible scenario in which we assume this effect is due to a higher leakage (so assuming no different response of R_{HCO3} - to pCO_2 in the different nitrogen treatments), the term $\frac{C_{fixed}}{F_{in}}$ in equation 6 must be lower in +N than in -N. A lower value for this term could be due to a lower carbon production rate in +N or due to a higher carbon influx. The data indicate that C_{fixed}

is much higher in +N than in -N at low pCO_2 . This is in particular the case near 250 µatm pCO_2 where carbon production rates peak to a 7-fold higher rate in +N. Therefore, in this scenario, F_{in} must be higher in +N than in -N. Concluding, at low pCO_2 , fractionation is higher in the nitrogen excess treatment due to a lower R_{HCO3} - or due to a higher F_{in} .

 ε_{p} shows in general a much stronger sensitivity to pCO_{2} in -N than in +N. This difference in sensitivity may be due to a different response of R_{HCO3} - or, alternatively, to a different response of leakage between the nitrogen treatments. ε_{p} may show a decreased sensitivity to pCO_{2} if the R_{HCO3} - decreases less with pCO_{2} in +N. If we assume that the response of R_{HCO3} - to pCO_{2} is not different between nitrogen treatments, leakage would increase more strongly with pCO_{2} in -N than in +N. Leakage, as defined in equation 5 is dependent on C_{fixed} and F_{in} . Since C_{fixed} shows little response to increasing pCO_{2} in -N, while C_{fixed} decreases in +N, this indicates F_{in} increases more strongly in -N. In other words, total carbon uptake increases more strongly in nitrogen deplete conditions than in nitrogen excess conditions.

For nitrogen replete conditions, the situation is different. Since C_{fixed} in +N decreased with increasing pCO_2 from >250 µatm onwards, while leakage might increase (assuming no strong effect of HCO₃⁻), it would mean that F_{in} increases less strongly in +N, remains constant or decreases with increasing pCO_2 . Therefore, unless the difference can be explained by a different response of R_{HCO3} - to pCO_2 between nitrogen treatments, total carbon uptake is affected differentially in nitrogen limitation.

Earlier, the putative decreased sbtA expression in high pCO_2 was discussed. Although this may decrease R_{HCO3} - with increasing pCO_2 , it is not known how this effect may be different between nitrogen treatments. A decreased sbtA expression may also affect F_{in} . This is because a decreased active bicarbonate transport might affect the total carbon uptake, if it is not balanced by increased passive or increased active CO_2 uptake. The negatively affected growth rates and carbon production rates in +N at high pCO_2 do suggest shifts in carbon uptake. Population densities in -N however do not seem affected (supplementary fig. 3). Possibly, population densities are not negatively affected by putative reduced sbtA expression because growth is already severely diminished because of nitrogen limitation.

A different response in F_{in} to pCO_2 in the two nitrogen treatments can indicate differences in active carbon transport (CCM activity) or passive diffusion (e.g. cell surface to volume ratio, membrane permeability). Cell volumes are indeed smaller in nitrogen deplete conditions, but a large difference is only observed for the NIES strain, and the PCC strain even has larger cell volumes in high pCO_2 (supplementary fig. 5), so this effect cannot explain a different response in F_{in} between nitrogen treatments for all strains. Membrane permeability data are unfortunately not available in this study, so further research is required to assess if passive or active transport is affected by pCO_2 differently under deplete and replete nitrogen conditions.

Limitations

This research was conducted with monocultures in controlled laboratory settings. A strong advantage of this method is that it allows us to investigate the fundamental changes that occur by modifying a single environmental factor. An obvious downside is that the high complexity of natural environments is not represented in these experimental conditions. This may make it difficult to directly translate these results to changes that occur in the field. Another factor that limits the translation of these results to the field is the imposed monoculture. In the field the existence of monocultures is extremely rare, if not non-existent. Competition with other phytoplankton and the grazing pressure of zooplankton will have a strong influence in the development of cyanobacterial populations. From this study it is therefore difficult to predict changes in natural environments. Despite the limited applicability for making predictions for natural environments, this study shows that changes in pCO_2 and nitrogen availability can lead to major changes on a cellular level and provides an important step towards understanding the fundamental responses of cyanobacteria to the combined effect of pCO_2 and nitrogen conditions.

Conclusions and outlook

An increase in pCO_2 has been shown to have large effects on *Microcystis* growth, stoichiometry and carbon acquisition. The direction and extent of these responses has been shown to be dependent on nitrogen conditions. Replete/deplete nitrogen conditions lead to an opposite response of C:N stoichiometry to increasing pCO_2 , resulting in approximately doubled C:N ratios at high pCO_2 under N deplete compared to N replete conditions. The large changes observed in C:N stoichiometry indicate cyanobacteria are highly flexible and respond strongly to changes in the environment. Growth of *Microcystis* has been shown to be dependent on pCO_2 , as growth is impaired at CO_2 limitation, while HCO_3^- is available in excess. Growth is also impaired at high pCO_2 , which may be closely related to the carbon uptake systems present in the investigated genotypes, and by putative photoinbibition. Fractionation has been found to be more sensitive to increasing pCO_2 in nitrogen limitation. Here, the highest values for fractionation are found at high pCO_2 . These values can be explained by a decreasing proportion of bicarbonate to total carbon uptake and an increasing leakage with increasing pCO_2 . Furthermore, an increase in total carbon uptake has been shown to occur with increasing pCO_2 in nitrogen limitation. The extent of this shift may depend on nitrogen conditions. The relationship between ε_p and pCO₂ is strongest at low pCO₂ and in particular, under nitrogen limitation. Such strong relationship between ε_p and pCO_2 at low pCO_2 may be suitable for the development of CO₂ proxies. We show however that this relation will be complicated by the interactive effect of nitrogen conditions. Future atmospheric pCO_2 and climate change, affecting CO_2 concentrations in freshwater ecosystems may have major consequences for the growth, stoichiometry and carbon acquisition of cyanobacteria. Some of these changes may provide an ecological advantage to cyanobacteria, which could affect the phytoplankton community composition and possibly the development of harmful blooms.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr.ir. Dedmer van de Waal and Dr. Jing Liu for the opportunity to participate in this project, for the nice discussions we've had and for the excellent supervision they provided during the project. Jing I thank in particular for allowing me to do this project with her and for teaching me the necessary lab skills. Dedmer I thank in particular for the deep-going discussions and constructive comments he provided for this thesis. My thanks go to Jack Middelburg, my supervisor at University Utrecht, for constructive comments on the first version of this thesis. I would like to thank Ing. Nico Helmsing for his involvement with the project, analysing samples and for helping me to set up an experiment and Ir. Suzanne Wiezer and Ing. Dennis Waasdorp for their additional support and advice. Finally, I would like to thank the people of the aquatic ecology department for making this a nice working environment and for the interest they showed in our work.

References

- Adrian, R., O'Reilly, C.M., Zagarese, H., Baines, S.B., Hessen, D.O., Keller, W., Livingstone, D.M., Sommaruga, R., Straile, D., Van Donk, E., others, 2009. Lakes as sentinels of climate change. Limnology and Oceanography 54, 2283.
- Badger, M.R., Palmqvist, K. and Yu, J.-W., 1994. Measurement of CO₂ and HCO₃⁻ fluxes in cyanobacteria and microalgae during steady-state photosynthesis. Physiologia Plantarum, 90: 529–536. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1994.tb08811.x
- Badger, M.R., Andrews, T.J., Whitney, S.M., Ludwig, M., Yellowlees, D.C., Leggat, W., Price, G.D., 1998. The diversity and coevolution of Rubisco, plastids, pyrenoids, and chloroplast-based CO
 ² -concentrating mechanisms in algae. Canadian Journal of Botany 76, 1052–1071. doi:10.1139/b98-074
- Badger, M.R., 2003. CO2 concentrating mechanisms in cyanobacteria: molecular components, their diversity and evolution. Journal of Experimental Botany 54, 609–622. doi:10.1093/jxb/erg076
- Badger, M.R., 2006. The environmental plasticity and ecological genomics of the cyanobacterial CO2 concentrating mechanism. Journal of Experimental Botany 57, 249–265. doi:10.1093/jxb/eri286
- Beardall, J., Johnston, A., Raven, J., 1998. Environmental regulation of CO 2 -concentrating mechanisms in microalgae. Canadian Journal of Botany 76, 1010–1017. doi:10.1139/b98-079
- Bowsher, C., Steer, M., Tobin, A. 2008. Plant Biochemistry. Garland Science. 500pp.
- Burkhardt, S., Riebesell, U., Zondervan, I., 1999a. Effects of growth rate, CO2 concentration, and cell size on the stable carbon isotope fractionation in marine phytoplankton. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, Vol. 63, No. 22, 3729–3741
- Burkhardt, S., Riebesell, U., Zondervan, I., 1999b. Stable carbon isotope fractionation by marine phytoplankton in response to daylength, growth rate, and CO2 availability. Marine Ecology Progress Series 184, 31–41.
- Burnap, R., Hagemann, M., Kaplan, A., 2015. Regulation of CO2 Concentrating Mechanism in Cyanobacteria. Life 5, 348–371. doi:10.3390/life5010348
- Caldeira, K., Wickett, M.E., 2003. Oceanography: Anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH. Nature 425, 365–365. doi:10.1038/425365a
- Carmo-Silva, E., Scales, J.C., Madgwick, P.J., Parry, M.A.J., 2015. Optimizing Rubisco and its regulation

for greater resource use efficiency: Probing Rubisco for agricultural efficiency. Plant, Cell & Environment 38, 1817–1832. doi:10.1111/pce.12425

- Cassar, N., Laws, E.A., Popp, B.N., 2006. Carbon isotopic fractionation by the marine diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum under nutrient- and light-limited growth conditions. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 70, 5323–5335. doi:10.1016/j.gca.2006.08.024
- Cole, J.J., Caraco, N.F., Kling, G.W., Kratz, T.K., 1994. Carbon Dioxide Supersaturation in the Surface Waters of Lakes. Science 265, 1568. doi:10.1126/science.265.5178.1568
- Coles, J.F., Jones, R.C., 2000. Effect of temperature on photosynthesis-light response and growth of four phytoplankton species isolated from a tidal freshwater river. Journal of Phycology 36, 7–16.
- Collins, M., R. Knutti, J. Arblaster, J.-L. Dufresne, T. Fichefet, P. Friedlingstein, X. Gao, W.J. Gutowski, T. Johns, G. Krinner, M. Shongwe, C. Tebaldi, A.J. Weaver and M. Wehner, 2013: Long-term Climate Change: Projections, Commitments and Irreversibility. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- De Marsac, N.T., Lee, H.M., Hisbergues, M., Castets, A.M., Bédu, S., 2001. Control of nitrogen and carbon metabolism in cyanobacteria. Journal of Applied Phycology 13, 287–292.
- Doney, S.C., Fabry, V.J., Feely, R.A., Kleypas, J.A., 2009. Ocean Acidification: The Other CO ₂ Problem. Annual Review of Marine Science 1, 169–192. doi:10.1146/annurev.marine.010908.163834
- Eberlein, T., Van de Waal, D.B., Rost, B., 2014. Differential effects of ocean acidification on carbon acquisition in two bloom-forming dinoflagellate species. Physiologia Plantarum 151, 468– 479. doi:10.1111/ppl.12137
- Ehleringer, J.R., Sage, R.F., Flanagan, L.B., Pearcy, R.W., 1991. Climate change and the evolution of C4 photosynthesis. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 6, 95–99. doi:10.1016/0169-5347(91)90183-X
- Eichner, M., Thoms, S., Kranz, S.A., Rost, B., 2015. Cellular inorganic carbon fluxes in Trichodesmium: a combined approach using measurements and modelling. Journal of Experimental Botany 66, 749–759. doi:10.1093/jxb/eru427
- Ellis, R.J., 1979. The most abundant protein in the world. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 4, 2 41–244. doi:10.1016/0968-0004(79)90212-3
- Falk, S., Palmqvist, K., 1992. Photosynthetic light utilization efficiency, photosystem II heterogeneity, and fluorescence quenching in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii during the induction of the CO2concentrating mechanism. Plant physiology 100, 685–691.
- Farquhar, G.D., O'Leary, M.H., Berry, J.A., 1982. On the relationship between carbon isotope discrimination and the intercellular carbon dioxide concentration in leaves. Functional Plant Biology 9, 121–137.
- Francois, R., Altabet, M.A., Goericke, R., McCorkle, D.C., Brunet, C., Poisson, A., 1993. Changes in the δ 13C of surface water particulate organic matter across the subtropical convergence in the SW Indian Ocean. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 7, 627–644. doi:10.1029/93GB01277
- Freeman, K.H., Hayes, J.M., 1992. Fractionation of carbon isotopes by phytoplankton and estimates of ancient CO₂ levels. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 6, 185–198. doi:10.1029/92GB00190
- Geider, R., La Roche, J., 2002. Redfield revisited: variability of C:N:P in marine microalgae and its biochemical basis. European Journal of Phycology 37, 1–17. doi:10.1017/S0967026201003456
- Giordano, M., Beardall, J., Raven, J.A., 2005. CO₂ Concentrating mechanisms in algae: Mechanisms, Environmental Modulation, and Evolution. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 56, 99–131. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.56.032604.144052
- Goericke, R., Montoya, J.P. and Fry, B., 1994. Physiology of isotope fractionation in algae and

cyanobacteria. In: Stable Isotopes in Ecology, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Editors: Lajtha, K. and Michener, B, pp.187-221

- Harke, M.J., Gobler, C.J., 2015. Daily transcriptome changes reveal the role of nitrogen in controlling microcystin synthesis and nutrient transport in the toxic cyanobacterium, Microcystis aeruginosa. BMC Genomics 16. doi:10.1186/s12864-015-2275-9
- HARRNESS (Harmful Algal Research and Response: A National Environmental Science Strategy), 2005. Ramsdell, J., Anderson, D., P. Glibert (Eds.), Ecological Society of America, Washington, DC.
- Hein, M., 1997. Inorganic carbon limitation of photosynthesis in lake phytoplankton. Freshwater Biology 37, 545–552. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00180.x
- Heisler, J., Glibert, P.M., Burkholder, J.M., Anderson, D.M., Cochlan, W., Dennison, W.C., Dortch, Q.,
 Gobler, C.J., Heil, C.A., Humphries, E., others, 2008. Eutrophication and harmful algal blooms:
 a scientific consensus. Harmful algae 8, 3–13.
- Herrero, A. and Flores, E. The Cyanobacteria: Molecular Biology, Genomics, and Evolution. 2008. Caister Academic Press Norfold, UK. 484pp.
- Hinton, M.J., Schiff, S.L., English, M.C., 1997. The significance of storms for the concentration and export of dissolved organic carbon from two Precambrian Shield catchments. Biogeochemistry 36, 67–88.
- Hoins, M., Eberlein, T., Groβmann, C.H., Brandenburg, K., Reichart, G.-J., Rost, B., Sluijs, A., Van de Waal, D.B., 2016a. Combined Effects of Ocean Acidification and Light or Nitrogen Availabilities on 13C Fractionation in Marine Dinoflagellates. PLOS ONE 11, e0154370. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154370
- Hoins, M., Eberlein, T., Van de Waal, D.B., Sluijs, A., Reichart, G.-J., Rost, B., 2016b. CO2-dependent carbon isotope fractionation in dinoflagellates relates to their inorganic carbon fluxes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 481, 9–14. doi:10.1016/j.jembe.2016.04.001
- Hoins, M., 2016. Isotopic fractionation during carbon acquisition in dinoflagellates ; a new proxy for *p*CO₂? Utrecht University, Faculty of Geosciences, Department of Earth Sciences, Utrecht. LPP Foundation.
- Hoins, M., Van de Waal, D.B., Eberlein, T., Reichart, G.-J., Rost, B., Sluijs, A., 2015. Stable carbon isotope fractionation of organic cyst-forming dinoflagellates: Evaluating the potential for a CO2 proxy. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 160, 267–276. doi:10.1016/j.gca.2015.04.001
- Huisman, J., Matthijs, H.C., Visser, P.M., Balke, H., Sigon, C.A., Passarge, J., Weissing, F.J., Mur, L.R., 2002. Principles of the light-limited chemostat: theory and ecological applications. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 81, 117–133.
- Huisman, J., Sharples, J., Stroom, J.M., Visser, P.M., Kardinaal, W.E.A., Verspagen, J.M., Sommeijer,
 B., 2004. Changes in turbulent mixing shift competition for light between phytoplankton species. Ecology 85, 2960–2970.
- Ibelings, B.W., Maberly, S.C., 1998. Photoinhibition and the availability of inorganic carbon restrict photosynthesis by surface blooms of cyanobacteria. Limnology and Oceanography 43, 408– 419. doi:10.4319/lo.1998.43.3.0408
- Jöhnk, K.D., Huisman, J., Sharples, J., Sommeijer, B., Visser, P.M., Stroom, J.M., 2008. Summer heatwaves promote blooms of harmful cyanobacteria. Global Change Biology 14, 495–512. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01510.x
- Jordan, D.B., Ogren, W.L., 1981. Species variation in the specificity of ribulose biphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase. Nature 291, 513–515. doi:10.1038/291513a0
- Kaplan, A., Reinhold, L., 1999. CO2 concentrating mechanisms in photosynthetic microorganisms. Annual review of plant biology 50, 539–570.
- Keller, K., Morel, F.M., 1999. A model of carbon isotopic fractionation and active carbon uptake in phytoplankton. Marine Ecology Progress Series 182, 295–298.
- Kilham, S. S., Kreeger, D. A., Lynn, S. G., Goulden, C. E., & Herrera, L., 1998. COMBO: a defined freshwater culture medium for algae and zooplankton. Hydrobiologia, 377(1-3), 147-159.
- Klemer, A.R. and Konopka, A.E., 1989. Causes and Consequences of Blue-Green Algal (Cyanobacterial)

Blooms, Lake and Reservoir Management, 5:1, 9-19, DOI:10.1080/07438148909354676

- Kranz, S., Sültemeyer, D., Richter, K.-U., Rost, B., 2009. Carbon acquisition in Trichodesmium: The effect of pCO2 and diurnal changes. Limnology and Oceanography. 54 (3): 54, 548–559.
- Kranz, S.A., Levitan, O., Richter, K.-U., Prasil, O., Berman-Frank, I., Rost, B., 2010. Combined Effects of CO2 and Light on the N2-Fixing Cyanobacterium Trichodesmium IMS101: Physiological Responses. PLANT PHYSIOLOGY 154, 334–345. doi:10.1104/pp.110.159145
- Langer, G., Geisen, M., Baumann, K.-H., Kläs, J., Riebesell, U., Thoms, S., Young, J.R., 2006. Speciesspecific responses of calcifying algae to changing seawater carbonate chemistry: responses of calcifying algae. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 7, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1029/2005GC001227
- Langer, G., Nehrke, G., Probert, I., Ly, J., Ziveri, P., 2009. Strain-specific responses of Emiliania huxleyi to changing seawater carbonate chemistry. Biogeosciences 6, 2637–2646. doi:10.5194/bg-6-2637-2009
- Laws, E.A., Popp, B.N., Bidigare, R.R., Kennicutt, M.C., Macko, S.A., 1995. Dependence of phytoplankton carbon isotopic composition on growth rate and [CO2]aq: Theoretical considerations and experimental results. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 59, 1131–1138. doi:10.1016/0016-7037(95)00030-4
- Laws, E.A., Bidigare, R.R., Popp, B.N., 1997. Effect of growth rate and CO2 concentration on carbon isotopic fractionation by the marine diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Limnology and Oceanography 42, 1552–1560. doi:10.4319/lo.1997.42.7.1552
- Laws, E.A., 1998. Sources of inorganic carbon for marine microalgal photosynthesis: A reassessment of d13C data from batch culture studies of Thalassiosira pseudonana and Emiliania huxleyi. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43(1) 136-142
- Litchman, E., Klausmeier, C.A., Schofield, O.M., Falkowski, P.G., 2007. The role of functional traits and trade-offs in structuring phytoplankton communities: scaling from cellular to ecosystem level. Ecology Letters 10, 1170–1181. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01117.x
- Lürling, M., Eshetu, F., Faassen, E. J., Kosten, S. and Huszar, V.L.M., 2013. Comparison of cyanobacterial and green algal growth rates at different temperatures. Freshwater Biology, 58: 552–559. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02866.x
- Ma, Z., Gao, K., 2014. Carbon limitation enhances CO2 concentrating mechanism but reduces trichome size in Arthrospira platensis (cyanobacterium). Journal of Applied Phycology 26, 1465–1472. doi:10.1007/s10811-013-0181-6
- Matsuda, Y., Colman, B., 1995. Induction of CO2 and Bicarbonate Transport in the Green Alga Chlorella ellipsoidea (II. Evidence for Induction in Response to External CO2 Concentration). Plant Physiology 108, 253–260.
- Matsuda, Y., Bozzo, G.G., Colman, B., 1998. Regulation of dissolved inorganic carbon transport in green algae. Canadian journal of botany 76, 1072–1083.
- Mayo, W.P., Williams, T.G., Birch, D.G., Turpin, D.H., 1986. Photosynthetic adaptation by Synechococcus leopoliensis in response to exogenous dissolved inorganic carbon. Plant Physiology 80, 1038–1040.
- McGinn, P.J., 2003. Inorganic Carbon Limitation and Light Control the Expression of Transcripts Related to the CO2-Concentrating Mechanism in the Cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. Strain PCC6803. PLANT PHYSIOLOGY 132, 218–229. doi:10.1104/pp.102.019349
- McNevin, D.B., Badger, M.R., Kane, H.J., Farquhar, G.D., 2006. Measurement of (carbon) kinetic isotope effect by Rayleigh fractionation using membrane inlet mass spectrometry for CO ₂ consuming reactions. Functional Plant Biology 33, 1115. doi:10.1071/FP06201
- Mook, W.G., Bommerson, J.C., Staverman, W.H., 1974. Carbon isotope fractionation between dissolved bicarbonate and gaseous carbon dioxide. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 22, 169–176. doi:10.1016/0012-821X(74)90078-8
- Morales-Williams, A.M., Wanamaker Jr., A.D., Downing, J.A., 2016. Carbon concentrating mechanisms maintain bloom biomass and CO₂ depletion in eutrophic lake ecosystems. Biogeosciences Discussions 1–22. doi:10.5194/bg-2016-350

- Morel, F.M.M. and Hering, J.G., 1993. Principles and Applications of Aquatic Chemistry. John Wiley & Sons. 588pp.
- Moroney, J.V., Somanchi, A., 1999. How do algae concentrate CO2 to increase the efficiency of photosynthetic carbon fixation? Plant Physiology 119, 9–16.
- O'Neil, J.M., Davis, T.W., Burford, M.A., Gobler, C.J., 2012. The rise of harmful cyanobacteria blooms: The potential roles of eutrophication and climate change. Harmful Algae 14, 313–334. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2011.10.027
- Paerl, H.W., Fulton, R.S., Moisander, P.H., Dyble, J., 2001. Harmful Freshwater Algal Blooms, With an Emphasis on Cyanobacteria. The Scientific World JOURNAL 1, 76–113. doi:10.1100/tsw.2001.16
- Paerl, H.W., Huisman, J., 2008. CLIMATE: Blooms Like It Hot. Science 320, 57–58. doi:10.1126/science.1155398
- Paul, V.J., 2008. Global warming and cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms, in: Hudnell, H.K. (Ed.), Cyanobacterial Harmful Algal Blooms: State of the Science and Research Needs. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 239–257.
- Pierrot, D. E., Lewis, E. and D. W. R. Wallace. 2006. MS Excel Program Developed for CO2 System Calculations. ORNL/CDIAC-105a. Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, Tennessee. doi: 10.3334/CDIAC/otg.CO2SYS_XLS_CDIAC105a
- Price, G.D., Badger, M.R., Woodger, F.J., Long, B.M., 2008. Advances in understanding the cyanobacterial CO2-concentrating-mechanism (CCM): functional components, Ci transporters, diversity, genetic regulation and prospects for engineering into plants. Journal of Experimental Botany 59, 1441–1461. doi:10.1093/jxb/erm112
- Rae, B.D., Long, B.M., Badger, M.R., Price, G.D., 2013. Functions, Compositions, and Evolution of the Two Types of Carboxysomes: Polyhedral Microcompartments That Facilitate CO2 Fixation in Cyanobacteria and Some Proteobacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 77, 357–379. doi:10.1128/MMBR.00061-12
- Rau, G.H., Riebesell, U., Wolf-Gladrow, D., 1996. A model of photosynthetic 13C fractionation by marine phytoplankton based on diffusive molecular CO2 uptake. Marine Ecology Progress Series 133, 275–285.
- Raven, J.A., Johnston, A.M., 1991. Mechanisms of inorganic-carbon acquisition in marine phytoplankton and their implications for the use of other resources. Limnology and Oceanography 36, 1701–1714. doi:10.4319/lo.1991.36.8.1701
- Raven, J.A., Giordano, M., Beardall, J., Maberly, S.C., 2011. Algal and aquatic plant carbon concentrating mechanisms in relation to environmental change. Photosynthesis Research 109, 281–296. doi:10.1007/s11120-011-9632-6
- Riebesell, U., Wolf-Gladrow, D.A., Smetacek, V., 1993. Carbon dioxide limitation of marine phytoplankton growth rates. Nature 361, 249–251. doi:10.1038/361249a0
- Riebesell, U., Zondervan, I., Rost, B., Tortell, P.D., Zeebe, R.E., Morel, F.M.M., 2000a. Reduced calcification of marine plankton in response to increased atmospheric CO2. Nature 407, 364– 367. doi:10.1038/35030078
- Riebesell, U., Burkhardt, S., Dauelsberg, A., Kroon, B., 2000b. Carbon isotope fractionation by a marine diatom: dependence on the growth-rate-limiting resource. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 193, 295–303.
 Riebesell, U., Schulz, K.G., Bellerby, R.G.J., Botros, M., Fritsche, P., Meyerhöfer, M., Neill, C., Nondal, G., Oschlies, A., Wohlers, J., Zöllner, E., 2007. Enhanced biological carbon consumption in a high CO2 ocean. Nature 450, 545–548. doi:10.1038/nature06267
- Roeske, C.A., O'Leary, M.H., 1984. Carbon isotope effects on enzyme-catalyzed carboxylation of ribulose bisphosphate. Biochemistry 23, 6275–6284. doi:10.1021/bi00320a058
- Rokitta, S.D., Rost, B., 2012. Effects of CO ₂ and their modulation by light in the life-cycle stages of the coccolithophore *Emiliania huxleyi*. Limnology and Oceanography 57, 607–618. doi:10.4319/lo.2012.57.2.0607
- Rost, B., Zondervan, I., Riebesell, U., 2002. Light-dependent carbon isotope fractionation in the

coccolithophorid Emiliania huxleyi. Limnology and Oceanography 47, 120–128

- Rost, B., 2003. Inorganic carbon acquisition and isotope fractionation of marine phytoplankton with emphasis on the coccolithophore Emiliania huxleyi. Universität Bremen.
- Rost, B., Kranz, S.A., Richter, K.-U., Tortell, P.D., 2007. Isotope disequilibrium and mass spectrometric studies of inorganic carbon acquisition by phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods 5, 328–337. doi:10.4319/lom.2007.5.328
- Sandrini, G., Matthijs, H.C., Verspagen, J.M., Muyzer, G., Huisman, J., 2014. Genetic diversity of inorganic carbon uptake systems causes variation in CO2 response of the cyanobacterium Microcystis. The ISME journal 8, 589–600.
- Sandrini, G., Cunsolo, S., Schuurmans, J.M., Matthijs, H.C.P., Huisman, J., 2015a. Changes in gene expression, cell physiology and toxicity of the harmful cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa at elevated CO2. Frontiers in Microbiology 6. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00401
- Sandrini, G., Jakupovic, D., Matthijs, H.C.P., Huisman, J., 2015b. Strains of the Harmful Cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa Differ in Gene Expression and Activity of Inorganic Carbon Uptake Systems at Elevated CO ₂ Levels. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 81, 7730–7739. doi:10.1128/AEM.02295-15
- Sarmiento, J.L. and Gruber, N., 2004. Ocean Biogeochemical Dynamics. Princeton University Press. 528pp.
- Schippers, P., Lurling, M., Scheffer, M., 2004. Increase of atmospheric CO2 promotes phytoplankton productivity. Ecology Letters 7, 446–451. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00597.x
- Schulz, K.G., Rost, B., Burkhardt, S., Riebesell, U., Thoms, S., Wolf-Gladrow, D.A., 2007. The effect of iron availability on the regulation of inorganic carbon acquisition in the coccolithophore Emiliania huxleyi and the significance of cellular compartmentation for stable carbon isotope fractionation. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 71, 5301–5312. doi:10.1016/j.gca.2007.09.012
- Shapiro, J. 1973. Blue-Green Algae: Why They Become Dominant. Science, 179(4071), 382-384.
- Sivonen, K. 1996. Cyanobacterial toxins and toxin production. Phycologia: November 1996, Vol. 35, No. 6S, pp. 12-24.
- Sivonen, K. and Jones, G., 1999. Cyanobacterial toxins. In: Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management (eds. Chorus, I. & Bartram, J.). Spon, London, UK, pp. 41–111.
- Shapiro, J., 1997. The role of carbon dioxide in the initiation and maintenance of blue-green dominance in lakes. Freshwater Biology 37, 307–323. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.00164.x
- Sharkey, T.D., Berry, J.A., 1985. Carbon isotope fractionation of algae as influenced by an inducible CO2 concentrating mechanism. In : Inorganic Carbon Uptake by Aquatic Photosynthetic Organisms, Publisher: American Society of Plant Physiologists, Editors: Lucas, W.J. and Berry, J.A., pp.389-401
- Shih, P.M., Occhialini, A., Cameron, J.C., Andralojc, P.J., Parry, M.A.J., Kerfeld, C.A., 2016. Biochemical characterization of predicted Precambrian RuBisCO. Nature Communications 7, 10382. doi:10.1038/ncomms10382
- Smyntek, P.M., Maberly, S.C., Grey, J., 2012. Dissolved carbon dioxide concentration controls baseline stable carbon isotope signatures of a lake food web. Limnology and Oceanography 57, 1292–1302. doi:10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1292
- Sobek, S., Tranvik, L.J., Cole, J.J., 2005. Temperature independence of carbon dioxide supersaturation in global lakes: carbon dioxide supersaturation in global lakes. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 19, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1029/2004GB002264
- Soetaert, K., Hofmann, A.F., Middelburg, J.J., Meysman, F.J.R., Greenwood, J., 2007. The effect of biogeochemical processes on pH. Marine Chemistry 105, 30–51. doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2006.12.012
- Sterner, R.W., Elser, J.J., 2002. Ecological Stoichiometry: The Biology of Elements from Molecules to the Biosphere. Princeton University Press. 439pp.
- Tabita, F.R., 1999. Microbial ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase: A different

perspective. Photosynthesis Research 60, 1–28. doi:10.1023/A:1006211417981

- Tilman, D., 1982. Resource competition and community structure (No. 17). Princeton university press. 296pp.
- Tonk, L., Visser, P.M., Christiansen, G., Dittmann, E., Snelder, E.O.F.M., Wiedner, C., Mur, L.R., Huisman, J., 2005. The Microcystin Composition of the Cyanobacterium Planktothrix agardhii Changes toward a More Toxic Variant with Increasing Light Intensity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71, 5177–5181. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.9.5177-5181.2005
- Tortell, P.D., 2000. Evolutionary and ecological perspectives on carbon acquisition in phytoplankton. Limnology and Oceanography 45, 744–750. doi:10.4319/lo.2000.45.3.0744
- Tortell, P.D., Payne, C.D., Li, Y., Trimborn, S., Rost, B., Smith, W.O., Riesselman, C., Dunbar, R.B., Sedwick, P., DiTullio, G.R., 2008. CO ₂ sensitivity of Southern Ocean phytoplankton. Geophysical Research Letters 35. doi:10.1029/2007GL032583
- Trimborn, S., Brenneis, T., Sweet, E., Rost, B., 2013. Sensitivity of Antarctic phytoplankton species to ocean acidification: Growth, carbon acquisition, and species interaction. Limnology and Oceanography 58, 997–1007. doi:10.4319/lo.2013.58.3.0997
- Turpin, D.H., 1991. Effects of inorganic N availability on algal photosynthesis and carbon metabolism. Journal of Phycology 27, 14–20. doi:10.1111/j.0022-3646.1991.00014.x
- Van de Waal, D.B., Verspagen, J.M.H., Lürling, M., Van Donk, E., Visser, P.M., Huisman, J., 2009. The ecological stoichiometry of toxins produced by harmful cyanobacteria: an experimental test of the carbon-nutrient balance hypothesis: Ecological stoichiometry of toxin production. Ecology Letters 12, 1326–1335. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01383.x
- Van de Waal, D.B., Verschoor, A.M., Verspagen, J.M., van Donk, E., Huisman, J., 2010a. Climatedriven changes in the ecological stoichiometry of aquatic ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8, 145–152. doi:10.1890/080178
- Van de Waal, D.B., Ferreruela, G., Tonk, L., Van Donk, E., Huisman, J., Visser, P.M., Matthijs, H.C.P., 2010b. Pulsed nitrogen supply induces dynamic changes in the amino acid composition and microcystin production of the harmful cyanobacterium Planktothrix agardhii: Amino acid composition and microcystin production. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 74, 430–438. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00958.x
- Van De Waal, D.B. *et al.*, 2011. Reversal in competitive dominance of a toxic versus non-toxic cyanobacterium in response to rising CO2.
- Verschoor, A.M., Van Dijk, M.A., Huisman, J., Van Donk, E., 2013. Elevated CO₂ concentrations affect the elemental stoichiometry and species composition of an experimental phytoplankton community. Freshwater Biology 58, 597–611. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02833.x
- Verspagen, J.M.H., Van de Waal, D.B., Finke, J.F., Visser, P.M., Huisman, J., 2014a. Contrasting effects of rising CO ₂ on primary production and ecological stoichiometry at different nutrient levels. Ecology Letters 17, 951–960. doi:10.1111/ele.12298
- Verspagen, J.M.H., Van de Waal, D.B., Finke, J.F., Visser, P.M., Van Donk, E., Huisman, J., 2014b. Rising CO2 Levels Will Intensify Phytoplankton Blooms in Eutrophic and Hypertrophic Lakes. PLoS ONE 9, e104325. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0104325
- Visser, P.M., Verspagen, J.M.H., Sandrini, G., Stal, L.J., Matthijs, H.C.P., Davis, T.W., Paerl, H.W., Huisman, J., 2016. How rising CO2 and global warming may stimulate harmful cyanobacterial blooms. Harmful Algae 54, 145–159. doi:10.1016/j.hal.2015.12.006
- Whitney, S.M., Houtz, R.L., Alonso, H., 2011. Advancing Our Understanding and Capacity to Engineer Nature's CO2-Sequestering Enzyme, Rubisco. PLANT PHYSIOLOGY 155, 27–35. doi:10.1104/pp.110.164814
- Wolf-Gladrow, D.A., Riebesell, U., Burkhardt, S., Bijma, J., 1999. Direct effects of CO2 concentration on growth and isotopic composition of marine plankton. Tellus B 51, 461–476. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0889.1999.00023.x
- Wolf-Gladrow, D.A., Zeebe, R.E., Klaas, C., Körtzinger, A., Dickson, A.G., 2007. Total alkalinity: The explicit conservative expression and its application to biogeochemical processes. Marine Chemistry 106, 287–300. doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2007.01.006

- Zeebe, R., Wolf-Flawdrow, D., 2001. CO2 in Seawater: Equilibrium, Kinetics, Isotopes. Elsevier Oceanography Series, 65, 346pp.
- Zhang, J., Quay, P.D., Wilbur, D.O., 1995. Carbon isotope fractionation during gas-water exchange and dissolution of CO2. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 59, 107–114. doi:10.1016/0016-7037(95)91550-D

Supplementary figures



Figure S1. Carbon and nitrogen cell quota per biovolume. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1).



Figure S2. Growth rates. These growth rates are determined in batch experiments, based on growth of number of cells. 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3).



Figure S3. Population densities. Populations on final day of each chemostat experiment are shown, after equilibrium was reached (n=1).



Figure S4. The relation of carbon isotope fractionation to growth rate / pCO_2 . This relation is described as a logarithmic function. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1). Trend lines are logarithmic best fits. The regression results are provided in supplementary table 3.



Figure S5. Average cell volumes. For nitrogen replete treatment, 95% confidence intervals are shown (n=3). For nitrogen deplete treatment, all individual data points are shown (n=1).

Supplementary tables

strain	Nitrogen replete	Nitrogen deplete
PCC – 7820	1.548ln(<i>p</i> CO ₂) + 5.7729	5.606ln(pCO ₂) - 18.884
NIES – 1099	2.632ln(pCO ₂) - 0.7281	5.069ln(pCO ₂) - 15.105
HUB – 524	2.436ln(pCO ₂) + 3.2656	5.505ln(<i>p</i> CO₂) - 15.352

Table S1. ϵ_p vs pCO_2 regression lines

strain	Nitrogen replete	Nitrogen deplete
PCC – 7820	-1.247ln(μ _c /pCO ₂) + 4.8473	-5.416ln(μ _c /pCO ₂) - 33.559
NIES – 1099	-2.446ln(μ _c / <i>p</i> CO ₂) - 1.9326	-4.352ln(μ _c / <i>p</i> CO ₂) - 22.222
HUB – 524	-2.406ln(μ _c /pCO ₂) - 0.2025	-5.424In(μ _c / <i>p</i> CO ₂) - 31.322

Table S2. ϵ_p vs Production rate/pCO₂ regression lines

strain	Nitrogen replete	Nitrogen deplete
PCC – 7820	-1.644ln(<i>p</i> CO ₂) + 5.7413	-5.606ln(<i>p</i> CO ₂) - 17.862
NIES – 1099	-2.659In(pCO ₂) + 0.5165	-5.069In(<i>p</i> CO ₂) - 14.181
HUB – 524	-2.448ln(pCO ₂) + 4.5619	-5.505ln(pCO ₂) - 14.348

Table S3. $\epsilon_p vs \mu/pCO_2$ regression lines